
 

 
 

Pension Board  AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 

 

Tuesday 22 March 2016 

 

TIME: 

 

2.00 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Rooms 3,  

Harrow Civic Centre 

 
 
 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

   

Chair: 

 

Mr R Harbord  

 

Board Members: 

 
Councillor Kiran Ramchandani - Employer Representative - London Borough of 

Harrow 
Gerald Balabanoff (VC) - Scheme Members' Representative - Pensioners 
Sudhi Pathak - Employer Representative - Scheduled and Admitted 

Bodies 
John Royle - Scheme Members' Representative - Active 

Members 
 -  
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Alison Atherton, Senior Professional Democratic Services 

Tel:  020 8424 1266    Email:  alison.atherton@harrow.gov.uk 
 



Pension Board - 22 March 2016 2 

 
 AGENDA - PART I   

 
1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. MINUTES   (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2015 be taken as read and 

signed as a correct record. 
 

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *    
 
 To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure 

Rule 17. 
 
Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received and there be a 
time limit of 15 minutes. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, Thursday 17 March 
2016 .  Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

6. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 

16 (Part 4B) of the Constitution. 
 



Pension Board - 22 March 2016 3 

7. INFORMATION REPORT - ACTUARIAL VALUATION 2016   (Pages 13 - 54) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
8. INFORMATION REPORT - MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT EXPENSES 

BENCHMARKING   (Pages 55 - 62) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
9. INFORMATION REPORT - PENSION FUND COMMITTEE ADVISERS   (Pages 63 

- 66) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
10. INFORMATION REPORT - GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT   (Pages 

67 - 82) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
11. INFORMATION REPORT - PENSION FUND COMMITTEE MEETING  25 

NOVEMBER  2015   (Pages 83 - 88) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
12. INFORMATION REPORT - ANNUAL REVIEW OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AT 

FUND MANAGERS   (Pages 89 - 114) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
13. INFORMATION REPORT - ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 

ISSUES IN PENSION FUND INVESTMENT   (Pages 115 - 154) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance 

 
14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS    
 
 Which the Chairman has decided is urgent and cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II   

 
 NIL   

 
 * DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE   
 The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the 

Council’s website, which will be accessible to all. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Pension Board - 2 November 2015 - 8 - 

 
 
 

PENSION BOARD   

MINUTES 

 

2 NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 
Chair: * Mr R Harbord 
   
Board 
Members: 

* Councillor Kiran 
Ramchandani 

Employer Representative - 
London Borough of Harrow 

 * Gerald Balabanoff (VC) Scheme Members' 
Representative - Pensioners 

 * Sudhi Pathak Employer Representative - 
Scheduled and Admitted 
Bodies 

   John Royle Scheme Members' 
Representative - Active 
Members 

   
* Denotes Member present 
 
 

15. Attendance by Reserve Members   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance. 
 

16. Declarations of Interest   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that there were no declarations of interests made by 
Members. 
 

17. Minutes   
 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2015 be taken 
as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

Agenda Item 3
Pages 5 to 12

5



 

- 9 -  Pension Board - 2 November 2015 

18. Public Questions, Petitions & Deputations   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions, petitions or deputations were 
received at this meeting. 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

19. Code of Conduct   
 
The Board received a received a report of the Director of Finance which set 
out additional advice from the Council’s legal adviser regarding the 
requirement for Board Members to sign up to and abide by the Council’s Code 
of Conduct. 
 
An officer advised that Board Members would be subject to the protocol on 
co-optees and advisors as set out in the Council’s Constitution, and would 
therefore be required to disclose any pecuniary, non-pecuniary and conflicts 
of interests at Board meetings.  He added that this requirement had been 
communicated to Board members at the time of their appointments and was 
also laid out in the Board’s Terms of Reference. 
 
A member of the Board stated that, in his view, the statutory definition of a 
conflict of interest did not correspond with that in the Council’s Constitution 
and that disclosable pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests were not the 
correct test to apply to Board members’ interests and the Council’s Code of 
Conduct could not override existing legislation relating to the conduct of Board 
members. 
 
Following further discussion, Board members indicated that they were 
agreeable to signing the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

RECOMMENDED ITEMS   
 

20. Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 
2015   
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Finance which set out the 
London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the Report of the Auditor 
(Deloitte LLP) to the Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards 
Committee. 
 
Following a brief overview of the report, officers responded to Board 
members’ questions and comments as follows: 
 

• the Council’s actuaries were not anxious about the fact that the fund 
was in deficit and that there was a 50% chance that the Fund would 
return to full funding in 20 years, and that achieving a fully funded 
status may require the continued payment of deficit contributions.  For  

6



 

Pension Board - 2 November 2015 - 10 - 

the Fund to be fully funded in a shorter period could require an 
employer contribution rate of 34%, which was not currently feasible; 
 

• in terms of investment performance league tables for all LGPS funds, 
the Fund was in the top quartile; for funding it was in the bottom 
quintile.  An officer undertook to ensure that future reports to the Board 
would set out clearly areas where the Fund was doing well as well as 
areas of concern to facilitate the scrutiny process as well as provide a 
more detailed report on funding and on cash flow projections to a future 
meeting of the Board; 
 

• some Local Authority actuaries tended to be quite conservative and 
generally attached high values to liabilities.  The Council’s actuaries, 
Hymans Robertson LLP, had produced a report on Local Authorities, 
which, when using consistent assumptions, placed Harrow about 50th 
nationally. 
 

• 85% of the Pension Fund’s members were council employees; 
 

• the next actuarial valuation would take effect from 2017 and officers 
would be meeting with the actuaries in 2016 to get the ball rolling; 
 

• the Fund’s governance arrangements, when measured in a self-
assessment exercise against the principles set out in the statutory 
guidance were considered by officers to be largely fully compliant in 
most areas, however, he would provide a more detailed report 
regarding this to a future meeting of the Board; 
 

• comments made by the external auditors (Deloitte’s) regarding the 
council’s internal control environment and risk management processes 
related to previous years and all recommendations made by the 
auditors had since been actioned.  The comment relating to the risk 
register related to any possible major systems failure leading to a 
failure in pensions administration and the actuaries had requested that 
the register include more detail on this; 
 

• the auditors routinely carried out sample checks on pensions’ 
calculations for individuals and the pensions’ payroll staff had been 
provided with training on calculations under the new arrangements.  All 
council employees had been issued with benefits statements in August 
2015; 
 

• all of the Fund’s investments were in pooled funds and none were in 
segregated funds.  The pooled funds were held by custodians who 
were listed on the accounts and the Pension Fund Committee (PFC) 
received a report annually regarding the internal controls and audit of 
each of the fund managers.  An officer undertook to provide the Board 
with a report regarding the internal controls and governance 
procedures of the custodians. 
 

7



 

- 11 -  Pension Board - 2 November 2015 

RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; and 

 
(2) the Board’s comments be forwarded to the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

21. Investment and Management Expenses 2014-15   
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Finance which set out the 
details of investment and management expenses incurred by the Pension 
Fund during 2014/15. 
 
An officer provided a brief introduction to the report, and responded to 
comments and questions as follows: 
 

• the fees for work undertaken by Hymans Robertson in relation to the 
Pension Fund varied from year to year and their fees were not 
performance-linked.  For example, in 2013/14, a great deal of work on 
the triennial valuation had been undertaken by Hymans, which were 
charged either on the basis of time spent or for projects undertaken.  
Many local authorities had officer support to appraise fund managers, 
and Harrow used AonHewitt for this, which had produced four quarterly 
reports on rating, at the cost of £20k per quarter; 
 

• the Pension Fund Committee (PFC) and its predecessor, the Pension 
Fund Investment Panel had co-opted advisers and professional 
advisers from AonHewitt who had replaced Hymans Robertson. Last 
year the PFC had appointed two additional advisers.  The advisers 
would be expected to attend four PFC meetings per year, to keep 
abreast of financial matters and attend other events such as meetings 
with fund managers.  It was noted that the advisers had incorrectly 
been listed in the report as Financial advisers, which they were not and 
were not therefore required to be registered with the Financial Conduct 
Authority.  Further information regarding the appointment of the 
advisers would be circulated to Board members after the meeting; 
 

• the £807K figure relating to Payroll and Central Recharges, which was 
an annual calculation, was accurate and included items such as officer 
salaries, the cost of producing pay slips, overheads and costs related 
to agency staff; 
 

• any benchmarking data that was available regarding other funds would 
be provided to the Board after the meeting. 
 

RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; and 

 
(2) the Board’s comments be forwarded to the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

8



 

Pension Board - 2 November 2015 - 12 - 

22. Statement of Investment Principles   
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Finance which set out the 
Pension Fund’s current Statement of Investment Principles.  Following a brief 
overview of the report, an officer responded to questions and comments as 
follows: 
 

• the Fund’s investment managers invested in overseas companies but 
did not engage in currency dealing as currency hedging was not within 
their area of expertise.  The Fund used a company which took actions 
at the level of 50% of the Fund’s foreign investments.  This  manager 
was paid £21k for its services; 
 

• re-structuring of the Fund was considered approximately every three 
years.  The last re-structure had been agreed in 2013 and implemented 
in 2014; 

 

• the robustness of the controls and limits placed on the investment 
managers had been considered by the PFC and their internal controls 
were reviewed annually.  This information would be circulated to the 
Board after the meeting. 
 

RESOLVED:  That 
 
(1) the report be noted; and 

 
(2) the Board’s comments be forwarded to the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

23. Pension Fund Committee - 1 July 2015   
 
The Board received a report summarising the matters considered at the 
Pension Fund Committee meeting on 1 July 2015.  
 
The Board noted that there had been a significant improvement in the Fund’s 
performance relative to other funds between 2007-09 and 2010-15. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

24. Pension Fund Committee - 8 September 2015   
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Finance summarising the 
matters considered at the Pension Fund Committee (PFC) meeting on 
8 September 2015.  
 
Members expressed concern at the Board’s lack of access to exempt reports 
submitted to the PFC. They were of the view that this would  hinder their 
ability to scrutinise governance arrangements relating to the Fund and queried 
whether most of the reports submitted to PFC which had been listed as 
exempt should in fact have been designated as such. 
 

9



 

- 13 -  Pension Board - 2 November 2015 

RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; and  

 
(2) the Board’s comments be forwarded to the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

25. Benchmarking Exercise and Key Performance Indicators   
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Finance advising of a request 
from the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Advisory Board that 
each administering authority complete a pro-forma providing information on 
key performance indicators (KPIs). 
 
An officer advised that completion of the pro-forma had taken the form of a 
self-assessment exercise.  He responded to questions as follows: 
 

• the completed pro-formas would be made available to the Scheme 
Advisory Board, however, the Board did not intend to create a league 
table from the data received.  The Advisory Board hoped that 
completing the pro-forma would enable authorities to improve their 
performance; 
 

• 31 out of the 33 London Boroughs had signed up to a collective 
investment vehicle, which would mean lower management fees for 
contracts; 
 

• information regarding whether the statutory governance standards 
were being reviewed would be confirmed to Board members after the 
meeting; 
 

• Harrow may be signing up to the Stewardship Code and Board 
members were welcome to provide comments and feedback regarding 
this; 
 

• Croydon Council was leading on negotiations on Framework 
Agreements for Actuaries and Investment Advisers and Harrow had 
used these facilities. 

 
RESOLVED:  That 
 
(1) the report be noted; and 

 
(2) the Board’s comments be forwarded to the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

26. Any Other Business   
 
In accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, 
the following items were included late on the agenda as they arose following a 
consideration of the minutes of the last meeting and discussion of the agenda 
items: 
 

10



 

Pension Board - 2 November 2015 - 14 - 

• the Board should appeal against the ruling by the Council’s Legal 
Advisor that Board members should not be given access to exempt 
reports submitted to the Pension Fund Committee (PFC), for the 
following reasons: the Board’s ability to fulfil its scrutiny function would 
be seriously compromised unless it was allowed access to exempt 
reports submitted to PFC, particularly since Board members were 
expected to sign up to and abide by the Council’s Code of Conduct.  
Pension Board members at other local authorities had full access to 
exempt papers submitted to their Pension Fund Committees.  The 
Chair stated that the Board should enter into further dialogue with the 
Council’s legal adviser with a view to finding a solution to this issue; 
 

• adviser appointments to the Board were made for a period of three 
years, however, the length of the appointments should be staggered to 
ensure continuity of expert advice; 
 

• officers were requested to produce a Work Programme for the Board 
as this would help to ensure that the Board effectively discharged its 
responsibilities; 
 

• Board Members were of the view that a further meeting should be 
scheduled for February/March 2016. 

 
RESOLVED:  That the comments be noted. 
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 6.30 pm, closed at 8.36 pm). 
 
 
 
 
 
(Signed) RICHARD HARBORD 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

PENSION BOARD 

Date of Meeting: 

 

22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report – Actuarial Valuation 
2016  

 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

 
Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  

 

Exempt: 

 

 
No 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix1-  Regulation 62 of Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 
Appendix 2 – 2016 Valuation: Funding 
strategy considerations Hymans 
Robertson) 
 

 

Section 1 – Summary  
 

 
 
This report advises the Board of the need for the triennial valuation of the 
Pension Fund during 2016 and invites them to receive a presentation from the 
Actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP. 
 

 
For Information 

Agenda Item 7
Pages 13 to 54

13



 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. As required by Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme  

Regulations 2013, every three years an actuarial valuation of the Pension 
Fund is carried out. The last valuation was carried out in 2013 with the 
results implemented from 1 April 2014. Another valuation is now due and 
the Council has appointed the Actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP, as 
currently led by the partner, Ms Gemma Sefton, to complete the work. 
 

2. A copy of the full text of the Regulation is attached as Appendix I. Some of 
the main features are as follows: 

 

 An administering authority must obtain— 
(a) an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of each of its pension 
funds as at 31st March 2016 and on 31st March in every third year 
afterwards; 
(b) a report by an actuary in respect of the valuation; and 
(c) a rates and adjustments certificate prepared by an actuary. 
 
Each of those documents must be obtained before the first anniversary of 
the date (“the valuation date”) as at which the valuation is made or such 
later date as the Secretary of State may agree. 
 
 The actuary must have regard to— 
(a) the existing and prospective liabilities arising from circumstances 
common to [the employers]; 
(b) the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a common rate as 
possible; 
(c) the current version of the administering authority’s funding strategy 
statement; and 
(d) the requirement to secure the solvency of the pension fund and the 
long term cost efficiency of the Scheme, so far as relating to the pension 
fund. 

 
3. Ms Sefton made a presentation both before and during the meeting of the 

Pension Fund Committee on 9 March 2016 covering some of the most 
significant aspects of the valuation. The Board are invited to receive this 
presentation. 
 

4. On 29 January the Director of Finance and several other officers met the 
Actuary and agreed a timetable. 
 

5. The Board are asked to note this report.  
 

Financial Implications 
 
6. Whilst, clearly, the results of the valuation have a major impact on the 

management of the Pension Fund and the contributions from the General 
Fund other than the actual costs of the valuation there are no financial 
implications arising directly from this report.   

 
 

14



 

 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
7. The Pension Fund has its own risk register which includes risks arising in 

connection with the triennial valuation.  

 
Equalities implications 
 
8. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
9.  Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund and the employer’s 

contribution affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities 
there are no impacts arising directly from this report. 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name: Dawn Calvert √  Director of Finance  

  
Date:       25 February  2016 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  
  
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details  
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 

15



16

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, Regulation 
62 
 
Actuarial valuations of pension funds 
 
62.—(1) An administering authority must obtain— 
 
(a) an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of each of its pension funds as 
at 31st March 2016 and on 31st March in every third year afterwards; 
(b) a report by an actuary in respect of the valuation; and 
(c) a rates and adjustments certificate prepared by an actuary. 
 
(2) Each of those documents must be obtained before the first anniversary of the 
date (“the valuation date”) as at which the valuation is made or such later date as the 
Secretary of State may agree. 
 
(3) A report under paragraph (1)(b) must contain a statement of the demographic 
assumptions used in making the valuation; and the statement must show how the 
assumptions relate to the events which have actually occurred in relation to 
members of the Scheme since the last valuation. 
 
(4) A rates and adjustments certificate is a certificate specifying— 
 
(a) the primary rate of the employer’s contribution; and 
(b) the secondary rate of the employer’s contribution, for each year of the period of 
three years beginning with 1st April in the year following that in which the valuation 
date falls. 
 
(5) The primary rate of an employer’s contribution is the amount in respect of the 
cost of future accruals which, in the actuary’s opinion, should be paid to a fund by all 
bodies whose employees contribute to it so as to secure its solvency, expressed as 
a percentage of the pay of their employees who are active members. 
 
(6) The actuary must have regard to— 
 
(a) the existing and prospective liabilities arising from circumstances common to all 
those bodies; 
(b) the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a common rate as possible; 
(c) the current version of the administering authority’s funding strategy mentioned in 
regulation 58 (funding strategy statements); and 
(d) the requirement to secure the solvency of the pension fund and the long term 
cost efficiency of the Scheme, so far as relating to the pension fund. 
 
(7) The secondary rate of an employer’s contributions is any percentage or amount 
by which, in the actuary’s opinion, contributions at the primary rate should, in the 
case of a Scheme employer, be increased or reduced by reason of any 
circumstances peculiar to that employer. 

17



 
(8) A rates and adjustments certificate must contain a statement of the assumptions 
on which the certificate is given as respects— 
(a) the number of members who will become entitled to payment of pensions under 
the provisions of the Scheme; and 
(b) the amount of the liabilities arising in respect of such members, during the period 
covered by the certificate. 
 
(9) The administering authority must provide the actuary preparing a valuation or a 
rates and adjustments certificate with the consolidated revenue account of the fund 
and such other information as the actuary requests. 
 

18



H
ym

a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 L
L
P
 i
s
 a
u
th
o
ri
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
te
d
 b
y 
th
e
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
C
o
n
d
u
c
t 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 o
f 
H
a
rr
o
w
 

P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d G
e
m
m
a
 S
e
ft
o
n
 

9
 M

a
rc
h
 2
0
1
6

2
0
1
6
 V
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
: 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s

19



2

W
h
a
t 
a
re
 w
e
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r?

A
c
tu
a
ri
a
l 
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
ic
s

V
a
lu
in
g
 t
h
e
 F
u
n
d

R
e
c
a
p
 o
f 
2
0
1
3
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
2
0
1
6
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n

20



In
tr
o
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

21



4

W
h
y
 d
o
 w
e
 d
o
 a
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
?

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 

S
e
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
 

D
e
te
rm
in
e
 m
o
n
e
y
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
a
c
c
ru
e
d
 

lia
b
ili
ti
e
s

C
a
lc
u
la
te
 s
o
lv
e
n
c
y
 (
“f
u
n
d
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l”
)

M
o
n
it
o
r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 v
s
. 
a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s

M
a
n
a
g
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 F
u
n
d
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

R
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
(F
S
S
)

22



5

T
h
e
 F
u
n
d
’s
 u
lt
im
a
te
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e

Structure

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

Pension Amounts (£) Millions

P
a
y
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
’ 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

Y
e
a
r

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 o
f 
H
a
rr
o
w
 P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
 2
0
1
3
 f
o
rm
a
l 
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 c
a
s
h
fl
o
w
s

0

1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

6
0

1
9

1
7

2
5

3
3

4
1

4
9

5
7

6
5

7
3

8
1

8
9

9
7

P
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs

D
e
fe
rr
e
d
 P
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs

A
c
ti
v
e
s

23



6

H
o
w
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
 w
o
rk
s

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s

E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 

In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in
c
o
m
e
/g
ro
w
th
**
 

£
9
0
m

P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 

L
u
m
p
 s
u
m
s
 

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
*

£
1
m

T
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 i
n

T
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 o
u
t

* 
In
v
e
s
tm
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n

**
 I
n
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 g
ro
w
th

£
2
9
m

£
3
4
m

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
L
B
 H
a
rr
o
w
 P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
o
u
n
ts
 2
0
1
4
/1
5

24



7

P
ro
m
is
e
 n
o
w
, 
p
a
y
 l
a
te
r:
 L
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 p
e
n
s
io
n
 

p
ro
m
is
e
 i
n
 e
v
e
r-
c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

L
u
m
p
 S
u
m

D
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t’
s
 

P
e
n
s
io
n

M
e

m
b

e
r’

s
 

P
e

n
s

io
n

4
0

6
5

8
5

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s

Expenditure Income

R
e
ti
re
m
e
n
t

D
e
a
th

25



8

S
c
h
e
m
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 –
th
e
 b
u
il
d
in
g
 b
lo
c
k
s

P
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip

T
im
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
G
P
S

T
ra
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 i
n

B
o
u
g
h
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
r

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r

F
in
a
l 
p
a
y
 i
n
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r

B
a
s
ic
 p
a
y
/s
a
la
ry

E
x
tr
a
s
 –
b
o
n
u
s
, 

o
v
e
rt
im
e
, 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n

k
in
d

A
c
c
ru
a
l

ra
te
s P
re
-2
0
0
8
 

1
/8
0
th

P
o
s
t-
2
0
0
8

1
/6
0
th

P
o
s
t-
2
0
1
4

1
/4
9
th

P
a
y
 d
u
ri
n
g

e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r

B
a
s
ic
 p
a
y
/s
a
la
ry

E
x
tr
a
s
 –
b
o
n
u
s
, 

O
v
e
rt
im
e
, 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n

k
in
d

26



9

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 o
f 
a
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n

A
c
tu
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 d
e
p
e
n
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
e
n
s
io
n
s
 a
c
tu
a
lly
 p
a
id

A
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
 o
f 
h
o
w
 m
u
c
h
 

m
o
n
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
 p
e
n
s
io
n
s

E
s
ti
m
a
te
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t

a
m
o
u
n
ts
 o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts

p
ro
b
a
b
ili
ty
o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 b
e
in
g
 p
a
id

27



1
0

T
h
e
 a
c
tu
a
ri
a
l 
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
: 
in
te
re
s
te
d
 p
a
rt
ie
s
 

A
c
tu
a
ry
 

c
a
rr
ie
s
 o
u
t 

v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
s
/T
a
x
p
a
y
e
rs

w
a
n
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
’ b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 s
u
it
a
b
ly
 

fu
n
d
e
d
, 
w
it
h
 m
in
im
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 m
in
im
a
l 

in
te
r-
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 c
ro
s
s
-s
u
b
s
id
ie
s

P
e
n
s
io
n
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

fo
rm
a
lly
 d
e
c
id
e
s
 o
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

b
a
la
n
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
ru
d
e
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

o
f 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
’ b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
re
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 

E
m
p
lo
y
e
rs
 

O
ff
ic
e
rs
 

lia
is
e
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 A
c
tu
a
ry
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
a
d
v
is
e
rs
, 
P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
, 
a
n
d
 E
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

E
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

w
is
h
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
, 

s
ta
b
le
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 

w
h
ic
h
 p
a
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
’ b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

a
n
d
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 

w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

In
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
a
d
v
is
e
r

c
o
n
s
id
e
rs
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 

re
la
ti
v
e
 t
o
 F
u
n
d
’s
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

F
u
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs

m
u
s
t 
h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 p
a
id
 i
n
 

fu
ll.
 W
a
n
t 
to
 s
e
e
 t
h
e
ir
 F
u
n
d
 r
u
n
 

w
e
ll:
 l
o
o
k
 t
o
 O
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 B
o
a
rd

L
o
c
a
l 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 B
o
a
rd
 

o
v
e
rs
e
e
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
a
s
s
is
ts
 

P
e
n
s
io
n
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 w
h
e
re
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

28



1
1

V
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 t
im
e
li
n
e

M
a
y
 –

J
u
ly
 2
0
1
6

D
a
ta
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
h
o
le
 f
u
n
d
 

c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
d
. 

[S
e

n
d

 d
ra

ft
 r

e
s

u
lt

s
 t

o
 N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

S
c

h
e

m
e

 A
d

v
is

o
ry

 B
o

a
rd

 b
y
 3

0
/9
]

J
u
ly
 2
0
1
6

In
it
ia
l 
re
s
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 F
u
n
d
.

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
6

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
re
s
u
lt
s
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
d
.

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
-
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
6

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
re
s
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 

a
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
.

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
fo
ru
m
 a
n
d
 s
u
rg
e
ri
e
s
 h
e
ld
.

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
7

E
n
d
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

F
in
a
l 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
re
s
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 F
S
S

a
g
re
e
d
.

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
7

F
in
a
l 
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 b
y
 

3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
7
.

E
a
rl
y
 2
0
1
6

F
u
n
d
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 

v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
. 

29



V
a
lu
in
g
 t
h
e
 F
u
n
d

30



1
3

L
ia
b
il
it
y
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 -
a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s

A
m
o
u
n
ts
p
a
id
 a
n
d
 p
ro
b
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
p
a
y
m
e
n
t

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
a
s
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
s
:

•
In
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
re
tu
rn

•
In
fl
a
ti
o
n

•
P
a
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s

•
P
e
n
s
io
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s

C
o
n
s
id
e
r:

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 o
u
tl
o
o
k

A
c
tu
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
s
s
e
ts

H
is
to
ri
c
a
l 
p
a
y
 g
ro
w
th

D
e
m

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

 a
s
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
s
:

•
L
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y

•
R
e
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 c
a
u
s
e

•
W
it
h
d
ra
w
a
ls

•
M
a
rr
ia
g
e
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s

C
o
n
s
id
e
r:

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 t
re
n
d
s

M
e
m
b
e
rs
’ s
o
c
ia
l 
s
ta
tu
s

P
a
s
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e

31



1
4

G
ra
n
u
la
ri
ty
 o
f 
F
u
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip

H
ig

h
 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

M
id

 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

L
o

w
 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

32



1
5

E
a
c
h
 F
u
n
d
 i
s
 d
if
fe
re
n
t

H
ig

h
 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

M
id

 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

L
o

w
 l
if

e
 e

x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
C
lu
b
 V
it
a
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 V
it
a
B
a
n
k
 a
s
 a
t 
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
2

33



1
6

T
ra
d
it
io
n
a
ll
y
: 
fu
n
d
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 s
in
g
le
 

e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 f
u
tu
re

5
0
%

6
0
%

7
0
%

8
0
%

9
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
1
0
%

Funding level

Y
e
a
r8
0
%
 g
ro
w
th
 s
tr
a
te
g
y

F
u
n
d
in
g
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
io
n

A
c
tu
a
ry
 &
 F
u
n
d
 

a
g
re
e
 o
n
e
 s
e
t 
o
f 

a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s

A
c
tu
a
ry
 

c
a
lc
u
la
te
s
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s

34



R
e
c
a
p
 o
f 
2
0
1
3
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h

35



1
8

L
B
 H
a
rr
o
w
 P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

M
e
a
s
u
re
m
e
n
t
a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 p
o
s
it
io
n

M
e
a
s
u

re
:

A
s
s
e
ts
 a
n
d
 l
ia
b
ili
ti
e
s
 

v
a
lu
e
d
 u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
ra
n
s
p
a
re
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y

U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 d
e
fi
c
it
 

A
p
p
re
c
ia
ti
o
n
 o
f 
ri
s
k
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
:

B
a
la
n
c
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 

ri
s
k
 

R
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 r
is
k
 p
o
s
e
d
 b
y
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
te
rm

 o
f 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
fu
tu
re
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
t 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s

36



1
9

L
B
 H
a
rr
o
w
 P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
: 
ri
s
k
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 

s
e
tt
in
g
 c
o
u
n
c
il
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y

0
%

2
0
%

4
0
%

6
0
%

8
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
2
0
%

1
4
0
%

1
6
0
%

1
8
0
%

2
0
0
%

0
1

2
3

4
5

6
7

8
9

1
0

Funding level

Y
e

a
r
s
 f

r
o

m
 n

o
w

m
e
d
ia
n

W
o

r
s

t 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s

B
e

s
t 

o
u

tc
o

m
e

s

1
%

9
5
%

8
4
%

1
6
%

5
%

9
9
%

T
a
il

 

V
a
lu

e
 

a
t 

R
is

k

A
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 l
ik
e
lih
o
o
d
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s

37



2
0

5
,0
0
0
 s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
s
 g
iv
e
s
 a
 d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s

0
%

2
5
%

5
0
%

7
5
%

1
0
0
%

1
2
5
%

1
5
0
%

1
7
5
%

2
0
0
%

0
3

6
9

1
2

1
5

1
8

Funding Level (%)

Y
e
a
rs
 f
ro
m
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 d
a
te

M
e
d
ia
n

1
 i
n
 6
 c
h
a
n
c
e

1
 i
n
 6
 c
h
a
n
c
e

M
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 5
0
%
 c
h
a
n
c
e
 m

e
e
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
H
ym

a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 L
L
P
, 
c
o
m
P
A
S
S
, 
s
a
m
p
le
 o
u
tp
u
t

38



2
1

L
B

 H
a

rr
o

w
 P

e
n

s
io

n
 F

u
n

d
: 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 f
u

tu
re

 r
is

k
s

Id
e
a
lly
 w
a
n
t 

th
e
 b
a
rs
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
o
in
ts
 t
o
 

b
e
 a
s
 h
ig
h
 a
s
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
H
ym

a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 L
L
P
, 
c
o
m
P
A
S
S
, 
L
B
 H
a
rr
o
w
 m

o
d
e
lli
n
g
 (
2
0
1
3
)

39



2
2

L
B
 H
a
rr
o
w
 P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
: 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

th
e
 t
ra
d
e
 o
ff
s

C
O
N
T
R
IB
U
T
IO

N

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

P
ru

d
e
n

c
e

S
te

w
a
rd

s
h

ip
A

ff
o

rd
a
b

il
it

y

L
O

N
G

 T
E

R
M

 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 O
F

 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 

A
V

E
R

A
G

E
O

F
 T

H
E

 

W
O

R
S

T
 5

%
 O

F
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

 I
N

 2
0
3
5

M
E

D
IA

N
 F

U
N

D
IN

G
 L

E
V

E
L

 I
N

 

2
2
 Y

E
A

R
S

H
IG

H
E

S
T

M
E

D
IA

N
 

C
O

N
T

S
 D

U
R

IN
G

 T
H

E
 

N
E

X
T

 2
2
 Y

E
A

R
S

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 1

7
8
%

3
9
%

1
7
0
%

2
0
.7
%

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 2

7
7
%

5
5
%

1
4
6
%

2
7
.0
%

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 3

6
3
%

4
5
%

1
2
0
%

2
0
.7
%

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 4

5
0
%

4
7
%

1
0
5
%

2
1
.7
%

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 5

7
0
%

5
0
%

1
6
3
%

2
0
.5
%

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 6

7
7
%

5
2
%

1
6
1
%

2
2
.7
%

S
o
u
rc
e
: 
H
ym

a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 L
L
P
, 
c
o
m
P
A
S
S
, 
s
a
m
p
le
 o
u
tp
u
t

40



2
3

2
0
1
3
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s

T
y
p
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r

S
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 B
o
d
ie
s

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 A
d
m
is
s
io
n
 B
o
d
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

D
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
n
g
 E
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

T
ra
n
s
fe
re
e
 A
d
m
is
s
io
n
 B
o
d
ie
s

S
u
b
-t
y
p
e

C
o

u
n

c
il

 P
o

o
l

A
c
a
d

e
m

ie
s

O
p

e
n

 t
o

 n
e
w

 e
n

tr
a
n

ts
C

lo
s
e
d

 t
o

 n
e
w

 e
n

tr
a
n

ts
(a

ll
)

B
a
s
is
 u
s
e
d

O
n
g
o
in

g
, 

a
s
s
u
m

e
s
 lo

n
g
-t

e
rm

 F
u
n
d
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 (

s
e
e
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 E
) 

O
n
g
o
in

g
, 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 m

o
v
e
 t
o
 

“g
ilt

s
 b

a
s
is

” 
-

s
e
e
 N

o
te

 (
a
) 

O
n
g
o
in

g
, 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 m

o
v
e
 t
o
 

“g
ilt

s
 b

a
s
is

” 
-

s
e
e
 N

o
te

 (
a
) 

O
n
g
o
in

g
, 

a
s
s
u
m

e
s
 f
ix

e
d
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
te

rm
 i
n
 t
h
e
  

F
u
n
d
 (

s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 E
)

F
u
tu
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
a
te

P
ro

je
c
te

d
 U

n
it
 C

re
d
it
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 (

s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 D
 –

D
.2

) 
P

ro
je

c
te

d
 U

n
it
 C

re
d
it
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 i
f 
o
p
e
n
 (

s
e
e
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 D
 –

D
.2

) 

A
tt
a
in

e
d
 A

g
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 

(s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 D
 –

D
.2

) 

P
ro

je
c
te

d
 U

n
it
 C

re
d
it
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 i
f 
o
p
e
n
, 

A
tt
a
in

e
d
 

A
g
e
 o

th
e
rw

is
e
 (

s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 D
 –

D
.2

) 

S
ta
b
il
is
e
d
 r
a
te
?

Y
e
s
 -

s
e
e
 N

o
te

 (
b
) 

Y
e
s
 -

s
e
e
 N

o
te

 (
b
) 

N
o

N
o

N
o

M
a
x
im
u
m
 d
e
fi
c
it
 

re
c
o
v
e
ry
 p
e
ri
o
d
 –
N
o
te
 

(c
)

2
0

y
e
a
rs

2
0
 y

e
a
rs

1
5
 y

e
a
rs

 –
s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 

s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 /
 c

o
v
e
n
a
n
t 

c
h
e
c
k
 

1
5
 y

e
a
rs

 –
s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 

s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 /
 c

o
v
e
n
a
n
t 

c
h
e
c
k
 

O
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
te

rm
 

D
e
fi
c
it
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ry
 

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 –
N
o
te
 (
d
)

M
o
n
e
ta

ry
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

M
o
n
e
ta

ry
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

M
o
n
e
ta

ry
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

M
o
n
e
ta

ry
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

M
o
n
e
ta

ry
 a

m
o
u
n
t 

T
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
u
rp
lu
s

C
o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 s

ta
b
ili

s
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 s

ta
b
ili

s
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
: 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 k

e
p
t 
a
t 
fu

tu
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 

ra
te

. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 p

e
rm

it
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

A
d
m

in
is

te
ri
n
g
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 s

p
re

a
d
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

u
rp

lu
s
 

o
v
e
r 

th
e
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
te

rm
 

P
h
a
s
in
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s

C
o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 s

ta
b
ili

s
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 s

ta
b
ili

s
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 

N
o
n
e

N
o
n
e

N
o
n
e

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
ra
te
s
 –
N
o
te
 

(f
)

A
d
m

in
is

te
ri
n
g
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 t
h
e
 r

ig
h
t 
to

 r
e
v
ie

w
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 r

a
te

s
 a

n
d
 a

m
o
u
n
ts

, 
a
n
d
 t

h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
, 

a
t 
re

g
u
la

r 
in

te
rv

a
ls

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 v

a
lu

a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 i
n
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y

e
a
rs

 o
f 
c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

N
e
w
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r

n
/a

 
N

o
te

 (
g
) 

N
o
te

 (
h
) 

N
o
te

s
 (

h
) 

&
 (

i)
 

C
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
: 

c
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
b
t 
p
a
y
a
b
le

C
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

s
s
u
m

e
d
 n

o
t 
to

 b
e
 g

e
n
e
ra

lly
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
, 
a
s
 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 B

o
d
ie

s
 a

re
 l
e
g
a
lly

 o
b
lig

e
d
 t

o
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
G

P
S

. 
In

 t
h
e
 r

a
re

 e
v
e
n
t 

o
f 
c
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 o

c
c
u
rr

in
g
 (

m
a
c
h
in

e
ry

 

o
f 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

),
 t

h
e
 c

e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 d

e
b
t 

p
ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 a

p
p
lie

d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

s
 p

e
r 

N
o
te

 (
j)
. 

C
a
n
 b

e
 c

e
a
s
e
d
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
a
d
m

is
s
io

n
 

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t.
 C

e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 d

e
b
t 

w
ill

 b
e
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d
 o

n
 a

 

b
a
s
is

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 o

f 
c
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 –

s
e
e
 N

o
te

 (
j)
. 

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

s
s
u
m

e
d
 t
o
 e

x
p
ir
e
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t.
 C

e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 d

e
b
t 

(i
f 
a
n
y
) 

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d
 

o
n
 o

n
g
o
in

g
 b

a
s
is

. 
A

w
a
rd

in
g
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 w
ill

 b
e
 

lia
b
le

 f
o
r 

fu
tu

re
 d

e
fi
c
it
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
. 

41



D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
2
0
1
6
 s
tr
a
te
g
y

42



2
5

3
 s
te
p
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 s
e
tt
in
g
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 p
la
n
s

W
h

a
t 
is

 o
u

r 
fu

n
d

in
g

 t
a

rg
e

t?

H
o

w
 l
o

n
g

 d
o

 w
e

 w
a

n
t 
to

 g
iv

e
 

o
u

rs
e

lv
e
s
 t
o

 g
e

t 
to

 t
h

e
 

ta
rg

e
t?

H
o

w
 s

u
re

 d
o

 w
e

 w
a

n
t 
to

 b
e

 
th

a
t 
w

e
 h

it
 t

h
e

 t
a

rg
e

t?

43



2
6

E
m
p
lo
y
e
rs
 a
re
 d
if
fe
re
n
t

T
e
rm

 
M
a
tu
ri
ty
 

S
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

G
u
a
ra
n
to
r 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 

e
x
it
 

C
lo
s
e
d
 t
o
 

n
e
w
 

e
n
tr
a
n
ts
 

F
u
n
d
in
g
 

le
v
e
l

S
e
t 
a
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
h
ic
h
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
s
 t
h
is
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 b
e
tt
e
r 
fu
n
d
in
g
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s

S
iz
e
 

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
s
 

44



2
7

W
h
a
t 
th
is
 l
o
o
k
s
 l
ik
e
 i
n
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e

H
e
lp
 a
ll 
p
a
rt
ie
s
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 s
e
tt
in
g
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 S
A
B
 a
n
d
 D
C
L
G
)

T
ra

n
s
p

a
re

n
t 

a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 p
la

n
s

E
m

p
lo

y
e

r
F

u
n

d
in

g
 

ta
rg

e
t

R
e

c
o

v
e

ry
 

p
e

ri
o

d

R
is

k
 

c
a

te
g

o
ry

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 o
f 

su
c
c
e

ss

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
A

O
n
g
o
in
g

1
7
 y
e
a
rs

L
o
w

6
6
%

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
B

O
n
g
o
in
g

1
7
 y
e
a
rs

M
e
d
iu
m

7
5
%

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
C

O
n
g
o
in
g

1
0
 y
e
a
rs

H
ig
h

8
0
%

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
D

G
ilt
s

5
 y
e
a
rs

H
ig
h

7
0
%

1

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
E

O
n
g
o
in
g

3
 y
e
a
rs

L
o
w

6
6
%

N
o
te
s
:

1
. 
C
h
a
rg
e
 o
n
 a
s
s
e
ts
, 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
ik
e
lih
o
o
d
 o
f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 f
ro
m
 8
0
%
 t
o
 7
0
%
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
s
e
c
u
ri
ty

45



2
8

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
2
0
1
6
: 
ri
s
k
 b
a
s
e
d
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s

C
O

N
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

 

S
T

R
A

T
E

G
Y

L
O

N
G

 T
E

R
M

 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 O
F

 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 

A
V

E
R

A
G

E
O

F
 T

H
E

 

W
O

R
S

T
 5

%
 O

F
 

F
U

N
D

IN
G

 L
E

V
E

L
S

 I
N

 

2
0
3
5

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 1

5
8
%

3
9
%

S
tr

a
te

g
y

2
7
7
%

5
5
%

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 3

6
7
%

4
5
%

5
0
%

6
0
%

7
0
%

8
0
%

9
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
1
0
%

Funding level

Y
e
a
r

8
0
%
 g
ro
w
th
 s
tr
a
te
g
y

F
u
n
d
in
g
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
io
n

T
h

e
 ‘
n

e
w

’ 
w

o
rl

d
T

h
e
 ‘
o

ld
’ 
w

o
rl

d

B
e

s
p

o
k

e
 r

is
k

 b
a

s
e

d
 

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 r

a
te

 s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 

s
e

t 
fo

r 
s

e
le

c
te

d
 h

ig
h

 r
is

k
 

e
m

p
lo

y
e

rs

46



2
9

2
0
1
6
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n

M
o
re
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 t
h
a
n
 e
v
e
r 
b
e
fo
re

A
u
d
it
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
a
n
d
 c
le
a
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 k
e
y

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
s
 a
re
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g

R
is
k
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

47



A
n
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
?

T
h
a
n
k
 y
o
u

48



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

49



3
2

D
is
c
o
u
n
t 
ra
te
: 
a
s
s
u
m
e
d
 f
u
tu
re
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
re
tu
rn

G
ilt
 y
ie
ld

O
u
tp
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

D
is
c
o
u
n
t 
ra
te
 =
 b
o
n
d
 y
ie
ld
 p
lu
s
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 o
u
tp
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

D
is
c
o
u
n
t 
ra
te
 =
 4
.6
%

3
.0
%

1
.5
5
%

S
e
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
s
s
e
ts
 w
is
e
ly
 

A
ls
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
ra
te
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
 d
e
fi
c
it
 

50



3
3

V
a
lu
e
 t
o
d
a
y
 o
f 
£
1
0
0
 i
n
 1
0
 y
e
a
rs
 t
im
e

H
ig
h
e
r 
in
fl
a
ti
o
n
, 
lo
w
e
r 
fu
tu
re
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
re
tu
rn
, 

n
e
e
d
 m
o
re
 c
a
s
h
 t
o
d
a
y

F
u

tu
re

 I
n

fl
a
ti

o
n

In
 1

0
 y

e
a
rs

 £
1
0
0
 

g
ro

w
s
 t

o

A
s
s
u

m
e
d

 f
u

tu
re

 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n

t

re
tu

rn

H
o

w
 m

u
c
h

 c
a
s
h

 

d
o

 I
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

d
a
y

Z
e
ro

£
1
0
0

7
%

£
4
8

3
%

£
1
3
4

7
%

£
6
5

3
%

£
1
3
4

5
%

£
8
0

51



3
4

V
a
lu
e
 o
f 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 F
u
n
d
 L
ia
b
il
it
ie
s
: 

H
o
w
 m
u
c
h
 m
o
n
e
y
 d
o
 I
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
d
a
y
?

£
1
,0
0
0
 p
.a
.

6
0

9
0

C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 c
o
s
t 
ig
n
o
ri
n
g
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 =
 £
3
0
,0
0
0

C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 c
o
s
t 
a
llo
w
in
g
 f
o
r 
in
te
re
s
t1

=
 £
1
4
,1
0
0

C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 c
o
s
t 
a
llo
w
in
g
 f
o
r 
in
te
re
s
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fl
a
ti
o
n
2
=
 £
2
0
,1
0
0

3
0
 y
e
a
rs

1
,2
A
s
s
u
m
e
 6
%
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
re
tu
rn
 a
n
d
 3
%
 i
n
fl
a
ti
o
n

..
 a
n
d
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
p
ro
b
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
s
u
rv
iv
a
l

52



3
5

R
e
li
a
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 L
im
it
a
ti
o
n
s

T
h
is
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 o
f 
H
a
rr
o
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
fo
r 
it
s
 s
o
le
 u
s
e
 a
s
 

A
d
m
in
is
te
ri
n
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 o
f 
a
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 a
n
y
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
y
; 
H
y
m
a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 

L
L
P
 m
a
k
e
s
 n
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
r 
w
a
rr
a
n
ti
e
s
 t
o
 a
n
y
 t
h
ir
d
 p
a
rt
y
 a
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
c
c
u
ra
c
y
 o
r 
c
o
m
p
le
te
n
e
s
s
.

T
h
is
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 d
is
c
u
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
G
P
S
 a
n
d
 w
a
s
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 p
u
re
ly
 f
o
r 

ill
u
s
tr
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs
. 
H
y
m
a
n
s
 R
o
b
e
rt
s
o
n
 L
L
P
 a
c
c
e
p
ts
 n
o
 l
ia
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
 o
th
e
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
is
 

p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 
 

T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 
A
c
tu
a
ri
a
l 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
* 
a
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
lie
d
 w
it
h
 w
h
e
re
 m
a
te
ri
a
l:

T
A
S
 R
 –
R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
; 

T
A
S
 D
 –
D
a
ta
;

T
A
S
 M
 –
M
o
d
e
lli
n
g
; 
a
n
d

P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 T
A
S
. 

* 
T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 
A
c
tu
a
ri
a
l 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 (
T
A
S
s
) 
a
re
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 s
e
t 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
c
e
rt
a
in
 i
te
m
s
 o
f 
a
c
tu
a
ri
a
l 
w
o
rk
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 h
e
re
.

53



54

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Board 

Date of Meeting: 

 

 22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report - Management and 
Investment Expenses Benchmarking 
 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  
 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Wards Affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: Appendix: Analysis of reported pension 
fund costs by Centre for Policy Studies 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendation  
 

Summary 
The report updates the Board on developments in connection with 
benchmarking the management and investment expenses of the Fund. 
 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. At their meeting on 2 November 2015 the Board considered the details 

of investment and management expenses incurred by the Pension Fund 
during 2014-15 and asked that any benchmarking data that was 
available regarding other funds be provided to the Board after the 
meeting.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 8
Pages 55 to 62

55



 

2. The Council, along with all other administering authorities, prepares its 
Pension Fund accounts in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice 
and in its accounts  identifies relevant costs as “Management Expenses” 
and “Investment Expenses.” These expenses are limited to those actually 
recorded in the authority’s accounts and, crucially, often exclude many of 
the investment management costs “hidden” within the performance and 
valuation data of fund managers.  Details of these expenses were 
provided in the report to the Board. The figures included in the accounts 
are reported to the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) in the statutory SF3 return in the months following the end of 
each accounting year. This is probably the only potentially 
“benchmarking”  data which is supplied by all administering authorities 
every year. 

 
3. However, DCLG report the results only on a “Scheme-wide” basis and not 

in any benchmarking format.  
 

4. Notwithstanding this, there are several organisations active in the 
benchmarking market, two of the most frequently mentioned being CIPFA 
for fund administration and CEM Benchmarking for investment costs.  

 
5. The CIPFA benchmarking club is quite well known but due partly to 

concerns over commercial confidentiality and the choice of peer groups it 
is not easy to find the number of authorities in the club and Harrow has 
never been a member. Its report “Pensions Administration Benchmarking 
Club 2015” is not in the public domain. 

 
6. CEM Benchmarking have had a few LGPS clients for several years but 

have only recently sought to expand their activity significantly in this 
market. 

 
7. However a substantial amount of work on benchmarking, using the SF3 

returns has been carried out by the Centre for Policy Studies and they 
have recently published the results. Their statistical analysis of these 
returns is included as the appendix to this report. On the face of it, this 
appendix makes encouraging reading for Harrow but it is provided more 
to identify an obvious flaw in the methodology rather than to seek 
approbation or discussion of the data. The Harrow figures are skewed by 
the fact that fee rebates from various fund managers are included within 
the costs reported whilst the fees paid both to these managers and 
several others are not. No doubt similar shortcomings could be identified 
by many other authorities whose costs have been analysed.      

 
8. The Board are aware of the development of the London Collective 

Investment Vehicle (CIV) and, over recent months, it has become clear 
that the Government will require all administering authorities to commit to 
such a vehicle. In their recent publication “Local Government Pension 
Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance” DCLG have required 
all authorities to commit to pooling their investments and they expect 
detailed plans to be reported to them in July. Specifically they will require 
authorities to provide “a fully transparent assessment of investment costs 
and fees” for the last three years. This will, and is intended to, require 
authorities to understand and report on all their investment costs 

56



 

irrespective of whether they are invoiced directly or taken from the 
investments at source. 

 
9. In the report to the last meeting of the Board estimates were made of 

these costs for Harrow but, no doubt, their accuracy can be improved and 
no benchmarking was attempted. 

 
10. Over recent weeks, officers have become increasingly aware of a 

company called “CEM Benchmarking” who say they are “an independent 
provider of objective and actionable benchmarking information 
forAAAAA..pension fundsAAAA”  In return for investment data they 
have offered to provide to all London boroughs an advisory and data 
cleansing service and a 30 page report at no cost. Several boroughs have 
already provided data and it appears likely that many more will do so. 
Harrow is providing data and the results will be available for the Board at 
its next meeting. 

 
11. As regards administration costs the benefits of joining the CIPFA club will 

be investigated and the results reported to the Board. 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
12.  There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.   
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
13.  Relevant risks are included in the Pension Fund Risk Register. 
 

Equalities implications 
 
14. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
15.  The financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of 

employer contribution which in turn affects the resources available for the 
Council’s priorities 

 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name:    Dawn Calvert �  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date:      25 February 2016 

   

 
 

57



 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

Not applicable  
 

 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details 
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 

58



59



60



61



62



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

PENSION BOARD 

Date of Meeting: 

 

22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report – Pension Fund 
Committee Advisers  

 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

 
Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  

 

Exempt: 

 

 
No 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
None 

 

Section 1 – Summary  
 

 
 
This report advises the Board of the advisers appointed by the Pension Fund 
Committee and of their various roles. 
 

 
For Information 

Agenda Item 9
Pages 63 to 66

63



 

Section 2 – Report 
 
 
1. At their meeting on 2 November 2015 the Board were advised as follows: 

 
“ the Pension Fund Committee (PFC) and its predecessor, the Pension 
Fund Investment Panel had co-opted advisers and professional 
advisers from AonHewitt who had replaced Hymans Robertson. Last 
year the PFC had appointed two additional advisers. The advisers 
would be expected to attend four PFC meetings per year, to keep 
abreast of financial matters and attend other events such as meetings 
with fund managers. It was noted that the advisers had incorrectly been 
listed in the report as Financial advisers, which they were not and were 
not therefore required to be registered with the Financial Conduct 
Authority. Further information regarding the appointment of the 
advisers would be circulated to Board members after the meeting;” 
 

2. Further details in respect of the Committee’s advisers / co-optee are as 
follows: 
 

Investment Consultant – Aon Hewitt Limited 
 
The Council’s contract with Aon Hewitt is described as an “access” or 
“framework” agreement facilitated by the London Borough of Croydon and 
dated 2 November 2011. 
 
The Agreement specifies the services available as follows: 
 
Core services 
 

• Review of investment strategy and investment management structure 

• Monitoring and reporting of investment managers – producing own 
quarterly report based on data provided by the measuring company 

• Attendance at meetings 

• Advising on Statement of Investment Principles 

• Attendance at officer meetings 

• Advising on the annual pension fund report 

• Advising on controlling investment costs including fees and transaction 
related costs 

• Advising on alternative investments 

• Advising on Corporate Governance and Socially Responsible 
Investment policies 

 
Non-core services 
 

• Manager selection 

• Custodian selection 

• Advising on selection of the performance measurement company 
 
 
 

64



 

The contract was originally for a period of four years with the option for the 
Council to extend for up to two years. Whilst, initially, the Panel had concerns 
over the framework process and subsequently over the change in lead 
consultant, overall the Panel / Committee and officers had been satisfied with 
the contract performance and on 1 July 2015 the Committee agreed to extend 
it for a further two years until 1 November 2017. 
 
Whilst the Council’s contract is clearly with the corporate entity of Aon Hewitt, 
over the years, in consultation with the Council, the lead consultant has 
changed. It is currently Mr Colin Cartwright. 
 
The contract is subject to a basic monthly charge of £5,400 which provides 
mainly for the quarterly manager reports and attendance at the Committee 
meetings with additional agreed further charges for specific projects. 
 
 
Independent Advisers 
 
After process of advertising, applications and interviews, on 29 July 2014 the 
Committee resolved to appoint Mr Colin Robertson and Honorary Alderman 
Richard Romain as independent advisers to the Committee at a fee of 
£15,000 per annum. The main terms of the contracts are: 
 

• The appointment will be for three years with the possibility, at the 
Fund’s discretion, to extend for a further two years. The contract may 
be terminated by the Fund at any time with three months’ notice. 

 

• Subject to reasonable circumstances the advisers will be expected to 
attend all of the Committee meetings which will take place on 
approximately five occasions during the year and are normally held in 
the evenings. Additionally they will be expected to attend up to ten ad 
hoc meetings during the year which, occasionally, last for a whole day 
but, more usually, for a few hours. The total commitment to meetings 
during the year would therefore be of the order of 7/8 days though it is 
expected that much more time than this will be spent preparing for 
meetings and maintaining professional expertise. 

 
  
Co-optee 
 
On 5 June 2006 the, then, Legal and General Purposes Committee agreed to 
the appointment of Mr Howard Bluston as a non-voting co-opted member of 
the, then, Pension Fund Investment Panel. He has held this position ever 
since.  
 
 

 

Financial Implications 
 
3. There are no financial implications arising from this report.   
 
 

65



 

 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
4. There are no risk management implications arising from this report. 

However, the Pension Fund has its own risk register which includes risks 
arising in connection with advice received.  

 
Equalities implications 
 
5. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
6.  Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund and the employer’s 

contribution affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities 
there are no impacts arising directly from this report. 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name: Dawn Calvert √  Director of Finance  

  
Date:       25 February  2016 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  
  
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details  
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 

66



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Board 

Date of Meeting: 

 

 22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report - Governance 
Compliance Statement 
 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  
 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Wards Affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: Appendix: Draft Governance Compliance 
Statement 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendation  
 

Summary 

 
The report advises the Board of the existing Governance Compliance 
Statement and invites their comments. 
 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. As part of the statutory requirements in connection with the Annual 

Report and Financial Statements, the Fund must publish its Governance 
Compliance Statement  to describe how the Fund is governed and how 
far it complies with specified principles. 
 

2. The current version is attached. 
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 67 to 82

67



 

3. The Harrow policy on the Statement is to review it annually and officers 
are doing so.  
 

4. The Board are asked to consider the current version and comment as 
they see fit.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
5. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.   
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
6.      Relevant risks are included in the Pension Fund Risk Register. 
 

Equalities implications 
 
7. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
8.     The financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of  

employer contribution which in turn affects the resources available for 
the Council’s priorities 

 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name:    Dawn Calvert �  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date:      25 February 2016 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

Not applicable  
 

 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details 
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 

68



 
GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

APPENDIX 1 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Governance 
 Compliance Statement 

 
London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2015 
 

 

 

 
 

69



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

2

 

Introduction .................................................................................. 3 

Regulatory Framework ................................................................. 4 

Delegated Functions .................................................................... 5 

Pension Fund Committee ............................................................. 5 

Officer Sub – Group ..................................................................... 6 

Divisional Director HR and OD ..................................................... 7 

Director of Finance and Assurance .............................................. 7 

Chief Officers ............................................................................... 7 

Local Pension Board .................................................................... 8 

Statement of compliance to guidance......................................... 10 

 

 

 

 

 

70



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

3

 

 
 
 
Introduction 
 

This is the Governance Compliance Statement of The London Borough of 
Harrow Pension Fund, administered by Harrow Council, the Administering 
Authority. The Statement provides an overview of Harrow’s approach towards the 
governance of the Pension Fund. 
 
Any enquiries in relation to this Governance Compliance Statement should be 
sent to:  
 

Linda D’Souza Head of HR Operations 

Harrow Council   

3rd Floor, South Wing  

Civic Centre  

Station Road  

Harrow  

HA1 2XF  

TEL: 020 8424 1426   

Fax: 0208 424 1196  

Email: linda.d’souza@harrow.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

4

 

 
 
 
 

Regulatory Framework 
 
This Compliance Statement is required by  Regulation 55 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 
 
The Regulation requires Harrow Council as the Administering Authority to 
prepare a written statement setting out: - 
 

 (a)  whether the authority delegates its function, or part of its functions under 
these Regulations to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the 
authority;  

(b) if the authority does so— 

(i) the terms, structure and operational procedures of the delegation, 

(ii) the frequency of any committee or sub-committee meetings, 

(iii) whether such a committee or sub-committee includes representatives 
of Scheme employers or members, and, if so, whether those 
representatives have voting rights; 

(c) the extent to which a delegation, or the absence of a delegation, complies 
with guidance given by the Secretary of State and, to the extent it does 
not so comply, the reasons for not complying, and 

(d) details of the terms, structure and operational procedures relating to the 
local pension board established under regulation 53(4) (Scheme 
managers). 

 
This Statement will be revised and republished following any material change 
on any of the matters set out above. A current version of the Statement will 
always be available either through the pensions unit at the address on page 
three and on the Pension Fund website www.harrowpensionfund.org 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

72



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

5

 

 
Delegated Functions 
 
Harrow Council has delegated its functions to the following: 

 
i) Pension Fund Committee  

 
ii) Officer Sub – Group  
 
iii) Divisional Director HR and OD 
 
vi) Director of Finance   

 
vii) Chief Officers 

 
Pension Fund Committee 
 
The Pension Fund Committee  comprises four Members representing two 
different political parties with voting rights, and one co-optee, two Independent 
Advisors and an Investment Advisor all without voting rights. Council Senior 
Officers attend each meeting and Trade Union representatives of Scheme 
members (UNISON and GMB) are also invited as observers. 
 
The Committee meets approximately four times a year and has the following 
responsibilities: 

 
 

� to exercise on behalf of the Council, all the powers and duties of the 
Council in relation to its functions as Administering Authority of the LB 
Harrow Pension Fund (the fund), save for those matters delegated to 
other Committees of the Council or to an Officer; 

 
� the determination of applications under the Local Government 

Superannuation Regulations and the Teachers’ Superannuation 
Regulations; 

 
�  to administer all matters concerning the Council’s pension investments 

in accordance with the law and Council policy; 
 
� to establish a strategy for the disposition of the pension investment  

portfolio; and 
 
� to appoint and determine the investment managers’ delegation of 

powers of management of the fund; 
 

73



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

6

 

� to determine cases that satisfy the Early Retirement provision under 
                Regulation 26 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 

1997(as amended), and to exercise discretion under Regulations 8 of 
the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 
(as amended, subject to the conditions now agreed in respect of all 
staff, excluding Chief Officers; 

 
� to apply the arrangements set out in (6) above to Chief Officers where 

the application has been recommended by the Chief Executive, either 
on the grounds of redundancy, or in the interests of the efficiency of 
the service, and where the application was instigated by the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the leaders of the political groups. 

 
 

Within its Terms of Reference, the Committee therefore carries out functions 
such as: 
 

� provide a response to any draft LGPS amendment regulations or other 
discussion paper relating to the LGPS. 

 
� In some instances, decide to whom a death grant is paid. 

 
� consider policy matters in relation to the pension scheme and the 

Council’s early retirement policy. 
 

� at least once every three months, review the investments made by the 
Fund Managers and from time to time consider the desirability of 
continuing or terminating the appointment of the Fund Managers. 
 

� receive actuarial valuations of the Fund. 
 

 

Officer Sub – Group  
 

The Officer Sub – Group is comprised of three Officers representing Finance, 
Legal and HR. Council Senior Officers attend each meeting.  
 
The Sub-Group meets on an ad-hoc basis and have the following responsibilities: 
 

� To determine all early retirement applications in line with Council Policy 
 

 

74



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

7

 

 
 
Divisional Director HR and OD 
 
The Senior HR Officer (currently Divisional Director HRD & Shared Services) has 
the following responsibility: 
 

� To determine flexible retirement applications where there is no cost to the 
pension fund. 

 

 

Director of Finance  
 
Pension Fund Investment 
 
In respect of the discretionary management arrangements the Director of 
Finance and Assurance has the following responsibilities: 
 

� In the name of the Mayor and Burgesses of Harrow Council and on behalf 
of the Pension Fund and in consultation with the Fund’s managers, to 
invest in stocks and shares as authorised by the Trustee Investments Act 
and Pension Fund Regulations, and to authorise the Council’s seal to be 
affixed to stock transfer forms, rights issues and other investment forms. 

 
� To enter into agreements on the terms and conditions on which these 

investments are made by the Fund’s managers. 
 

� To enter into under-writing agreements. 
 

� To monitor the investment decisions of the Fund managers and under the 
terms of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 to ensure the need for 
diversification and stability of investments  

 
 

Chief Officers  
 
Chief Officers may be specifically authorised to take decisions on behalf of the 
Council or a Committee in cases of urgency or in relation to minor matters. In 
doing so the procedure set out below must be followed. 
 
 
 

75



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

8

 

 
 
Urgent Non-Executive Decisions and Minor Matters 
 
In relation to matters which are the responsibility of a Council Committee, 
subject  to consultation with the Chair of the relevant committee and the 
nominated  members of the political groups or their nominees, Chief Officers 
shall have the power to act on behalf of the Council in cases of urgency and on 
minor  matters, where the urgent matter is of such a nature that it may be 
against  the Council's interest to delay and where it is not practicable to 
obtain  the approval of the Council Committee. In the event of 
disagreement  between the Members consulted, the matter shall be 
referred to the Head of Paid Service who may take the decision after 
consultation with the Leaders of all political groups or their nominees, 
and if appropriate, with the statutory officers. The safeguards set out below must 
be followed. 
 

 

Safeguards 
 
The procedure must only be used when considered essential to 
achieving the efficient administration of the service and for urgent 
matters consideration must be given to whether the matter can wait until 
the next scheduled meeting or whether the calling of a special meeting 
can be justified. 
 
All decisions taken by officers under this delegated power must be 
reported for information to the next meeting of the appropriate 
committee.  
 
 

Local Pension Board 
 
A local Pension Board will be in place by April 2015. 
 
 The role of the Board, as defined by sections 5(1) and (2) of the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, is to assist the Administering Authority (London Borough of 
Harrow) as Scheme Manager in ensuring the effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) including: 
 

-  securing compliance with the LGPS regulations and other legislation 

relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS; 

-  securing compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the LGPS 

by the Pensions Regulator; and 

-  such other matters the LGPS regulations may specify. 

76



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

9

 

The Administering Authority retains ultimate responsibility for the administration 

and governance of the scheme.  The role of the Board is to support the 

Administering Authority to fulfil that responsibility.   

In its role, The Board will have oversight of the administration of the fund 

including:  

a) The effectiveness of the decision making process 

b) The direction of the Fund and its overall objectives 

c) The level of transparency in the conduct of the Fund’s activities 

d) The administration of benefits and contributions

77



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

10 

 

 
Statement of compliance to guidance  
 

Regulation 55(1)(c) requires LGPS administering authorities to measure their 
governance arrangements against the principles set out in the statutory 
guidance.  Where compliance does not meet the published standard, there is a 
requirement to give, in their governance compliance statement, the reasons for 
not complying. 
 
 
Principle A – Structure 
 
a) The management of the administration of benefits and strategic management of fund 
assets clearly rests with the main committee established by the appointing council. 

 
b) That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted bodies and scheme 
members (including pensioner and deferred members) are members of either the main or 
secondary committee established to underpin the work of the main committee.   
 
c) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, the structure ensures 
effective communication across both levels. 
 
d) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, at least one seat on 
the main committee is allocated for a member from the secondary committee or panel. 
 

  Not Compliant                                                                          Fully Compliant                                                  

a)     √ 
b)   √   

c)     NA 

d)     NA 

 

Reason for non-compliance. 
 
There is no  representation of  non-Council employers or scheme members at the Pension 
Fund Committee. However, scheduled and admitted bodies are consulted on specific 
issues and representatives of two trade unions are entitled to attend all meetings as 
observers. 

 

 

 

 

 
Principle B – Representation 
 
a) That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be represented within the main 
or secondary committee structure. These include:- 
 

i) employing authorities (including non-scheme employers, eg, admitted bodies); 
ii)   scheme members (including deferred and pensioner scheme members),  
iii)  where appropriate, independent professional observers, and 
iv)  expert advisors (on an ad-hoc basis). 

 

78



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

11 

 

b) That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they are treated equally 
in terms of access to papers and meetings, training and are given full opportunity to 
contribute to the decision making process, with or without voting rights. 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                      

a)    √  

b)     √ 
 

Reason for non-compliance. 
 
There is no  representation of  non-Council employers or scheme members at the Pension 
Fund Committee. However, scheduled and admitted bodies are consulted on specific 
issues and representatives of two trade unions are entitled to attend all meetings as 
observers. 

 

 

 
 
Principle C – Selection and role of lay members 
 
a) That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the status, role and function 
they are required to perform on either a main or secondary committee. 
 
b) That at the start of any meeting, committee members are invited to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda. 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                      

a)     √ 
b)     √ 
 
 
 
Principle D – Voting 
 
a) The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including the justification for not extending voting rights to each body or 
group represented on main LGPS committees. 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                      

a)     √ 
 
 
Principle E – Training/Facility time/Expenses 
 
a) That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions are taken by the 
administering authority, there is a clear policy on training, facility time and reimbursement 
of expenses in respect of members involved in the decision-making process. 

 
b) That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of committees, sub-
committees, advisory panels or any other form of secondary forum. 
 
c) That the administering authority considers the adoption of annual training plans for 
committee members and maintains a log of all such training undertaken 
 
 

79



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

12 

 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                      

a)     √ 
b)     √ 
c)     √ 
 
 
Principle F – Meetings (frequency/quorum) 
 
a) That an administering authority’s main committee or committees meet at least quarterly. 

 
b) That an administering authority’s secondary committee or panel meet at least twice a 
year and is synchronised with the dates when the main committee sits. 

 
c) That an administering authority who does not include lay members in their formal 
governance arrangements, provide a forum outside of those arrangements by which the 
interests of key stakeholders can be represented 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                                                  

a)     √ 
b)     NA 

c)     √ 
 
 
Principle G – Access 
 
a) That subject to any rules in the council’s constitution, all members of main and 
secondary committees or panels have equal access to committee papers, documents and 
advice that falls to be considered at meetings of the main committee.   
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                                                  

a)     √ 
 
 
 
Principle H – Scope 
 
a) That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider scheme issues within the 
scope of their governance arrangements 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                                                  

a)     √ 
 
 

 
Principle I – Publicity 
 
a) That administering authorities have published details of their governance arrangements 
in such a way that stakeholders with an interest in the way in which the scheme is 
governed, can express an interest in wanting to be part of those arrangements. 
 

  Not Compliant*                                                                          Fully Compliant                                                  

a)     √ 
 
 
 

80



 
 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  

 

13 

 

 

 

 
 

: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

81



82

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Board 

Date of Meeting: 

 

 22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report - Pension Fund 
Committee Meeting  25 November  2015 
 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  
 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Wards Affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
None 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendation  
 

Summary 
The report sets out the matters considered by the Pension Fund Committee at 
their meeting on 25 November 2015 and invites the Board to agree any 
comments they might wish to make to the Committee. 
 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. Matters considered by the Pension Fund Committee at their meeting on 

25 November 2015 were as follows. 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 83 to 88

83



 

2. London Pensions Collective Investment Vehicle 
 
The Committee received a report which summarised the progress made in 
setting up the London Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) and the Harrow 
Fund’s involvement therein. The Chief Executive of the CIV attended the 
meeting and was invited to contribute to the discussion.  
 
On the day of the meeting the Council received a document from the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) entitled “Local 
Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance.” 
This document indicated that joining a CIV would not be optional and that, by 
19 February, all administering authorities would be required to state their 
commitment to pooling and to describe their progress in this regard. Harrow’s 
response was sent to DCLG on 19 February and, for information, was 
received by the Pension Fund Committee on 9 March. 
 
Later in the meeting a Member raised concerns over perceptions that the 
Government may be seeking to reduce the role of administering authorities in 
the management of their funds by leading them towards very large pooled 
fund and infrastructure investments. 
 
 
3. Options for Liability Driven Investment Strategy  

 
The Committee considered a report from Aon Hewitt which set out options for 
taking forward the consideration of a Liability Driven Investment Strategy. 
 
This was further considered at the meeting on 9 March 2016 and Aon Hewitt 
were asked to provide a short update report at each subsequent meeting of 
the Committee.  
 
 
4. Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund 

Investment  
 

The Committee resolved that: 
  
(1) investment managers and Aon Hewitt, the Council’s Investment Adviser, 
be asked to advise whether they had signed up to UN Principles for 
Responsible Investment (PRI);  
 
(2) investment managers and Aon Hewitt, the Council’s Investment Adviser, 
be asked to confirm that they had signed up to “The UK Stewardship Code” 
and to provide reports on their engagement and voting actions;  
 
(3) in the light of the responses received to resolutions (1) and (2) above, the 
Fund consider further whether to sign up to “The UK Stewardship Code” in its 
own right following the receipt of a further report setting out any conditions in 
relation to appendix 3 of the report and concerns about creating an 
infrastructure dependent on resolutions (1) and (2) above;  
 

84



 

(4) the Fund take a more active involvement in the Local Authority Pension 
Fund Forum by attending meetings at a Member or officer level and by more 
specifically associating itself with various initiatives;  
 
(5) within the Statement of Investment Principles the current paragraph on 
“social, environmental or ethical considerations” be amended in accordance 
with paragraph 27 of the report and those made at the meeting, as follows:  
 
“The Council recognises that it has a paramount duty to seek to obtain the 
best possible return on the Fund’s investments taking into account a properly 
considered level of risk. As a general principle it considers that the long-term 
financial performance of a country/asset in which it invests is likely to be 
enhanced if good practice is followed in environmental, social and governance 
activities.  
All the Fund’s investments are managed by external fund managers mostly 
within pooled funds. Currently, one is passively managed and one is 
specifically invested in emerging markets. The Council recognises the 
constraints inherent in this policy. Nevertheless it expects its external fund 
managers, acting in the best financial interests of the Fund, to consider, 
amongst other factors, the effects of environmental, social and other issues 
on the performance of countries and assets in which they invest.  
The Council expects its external fund managers to have signed up to “The UK 
Stewardship Code” and to report regularly on their compliance with the Code 
and other relevant environmental, social and governance principles.”  
 
(6) the Pension Board be requested to consider the need for admitted bodies 
to be involved in consideration of the importance of ESG issues and to what 
extent the views of the beneficiaries and representatives of beneficiaries 
should be taken into account.  
 
There is a report on Environmental, Social and Governance issues elsewhere 
on the agenda where the Board are asked to consider resolution (6) above. 
 
 
5. Benchmarking and Key Performance Indicators  

 
As received by the Board on 2 November, the Committee received a report on 
a request from the Local Government Pension Scheme - Scheme Advisory 
Board - that each administering authority completes a pro-forma providing 
information on key performance indicators. The report also advised the 
Committee of the return sent to the Scheme Advisory Board.  
 
6. Meeting of Pension Board on 2 November 2015 

  
The Committee received a report regarding the matters considered by the 
Pension Board at their meeting on 2 November 2015 and of the most 
significant issues raised by them. 
  
The Chair of the Pension Board addressed the Committee and outlined the 
interests of the Board which were: performance of the Fund, including key 
performance indicators (KPIs) and management costs. He added that the 
Board would continue to make representations on the need to have access to 

85



 

“confidential‟ reports considered by the Committee as the practice on access 
varied from one authority to another.  
 
The Board was of the view that, in order for it to do its “business‟ effectively, it 
needed to meet more frequently and that representations in this regard would 
continue as the two meetings allocated were insufficient. 
  
The Chair of the Pension Board added that training was provided and that a 
high level of knowledge was required from the Board’s members. 
  
An Independent Adviser to the Committee recognised that the Board would 
need to meet frequently and asked Members to make representations about 
accessibility to “confidential‟ reports considered by the Committee. The Chair 
of the Pension Fund Committee cited the example of the agenda for this 
meeting and stated that a concerted effort had been made by officers to 
ensure that, where possible, the reports considered by the Committee were 
available for public access and that “confidential‟ reports were limited in 
number. In light of the practice in other local authorities and the statutory 
nature of the Pension Board, the Chair asked officers for further legal advice 
on the ability of the Board to access “confidential‟ reports. 

 

 
7. Work Programme for 2015-16 and 2016-17 
 
The Committee received its  draft work programme for the remainder of 
financial year  2015-16 and 2016-17 for approval. 
  
The need to include additional reports discussed at this meeting was noted 
and a discussion on whether a report on the Collective Investment Vehicle 
(CIV) ought to be more frequent ensued. 
 
 
8. London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund: Annual Report and Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015  
 
Having considered the report of the External Auditor on matters arising from 
the audit of the Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2015, the Committee approved them. 
 

 
9. Performance of Fund Managers for Quarter Ended 30 September 2015 

and Valuation at 31 October 2015  
 

The Committee received a report setting out the performance of the 
investment managers and of the overall Fund for the quarter, year and three 
years ending 30 September 2015 and the valuation at 31 October 2015. They 
noted that Aon Hewitt would be reviewing the performance of Oldfield 
Partners LLP and inform members of the outcome.  
 
 
 
 
 

86



 

10. Investment Manager Monitoring  
 

The Committee received a confidential report which set out Aon Hewitt‟s 
quarterly report on Harrow’s investment managers and noted that all 
managers were rated either “Buy” or “Qualified”. 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
11.  Whilst this report discusses numerous matters relevant to the financial 

standing of the Pension Fund there are no financial implications arising 
directly from it.   

 

Risk Management Implications 
 
12.  Relevant risks are included in the Pension Fund Risk Register. 
 

Equalities implications 
 
13. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
14.  The financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of 

employer contribution which in turn affects the resources available for the 
Council’s priorities 

 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name:    Dawn Calvert �  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date:      25 February 2016 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

Not applicable  
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details 
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 

Background Papers - None 
 
 

87



88

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Board 

Date of Meeting: 

 

 22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report – Annual Review of 
Internal Controls at Fund Managers 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  
 

Exempt: 

 

No 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix – Review of Internal Controls at 
Fund Managers  

 
 

Section 1 – Summary  
 

 
The report sets out in summary the contents of the latest internal controls 
reports of each of the Fund Managers.  
 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 12
Pages 89 to 114

89



 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. The Report of the Auditor on the Pension Fund’s 2009-10 Accounts 

recommended that due diligence be carried out on the strength of the 
operational controls at investment managers both through a review of 
internal controls reports and visits to key investment managers.   At the 
November 2010 meeting of the, then, Pension Fund Investment Panel a 
template was introduced as a basis for measuring the level of assurance 
provided by the operational structure supporting each mandate. 

 
2. Operational controls of investment managers relate to the procedures in 

place to safeguard the Fund’s assets against loss through error or fraud 
and to ensure that client reporting is accurate.  Poor operational controls 
can also hamper the management of the assets leading to reduced returns 
or increased costs.  Should there be a lack of evidence that controls 
operated by investment managers are robust the continued appointment 
of the manager would be questionable. 

 
3. Operational control reviews focus on the key environmental, business and 

process issues.  A summary of the findings from the most recent reviews 
is provided in the Appendix. The key points from the findings in respect of 
the Fund’s current managers are as follows:  

 
Aviva Investors 
 
The audit, carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, indicates that controls 
are operating effectively and where shortcomings have been identified that 
there has been a satisfactory management response.  
 
BlackRock Inc 
 
The audit, carried out by Deloitte and Touche LLP, indicates that controls are 
operating effectively and, where shortcomings have been identified, that there 
has been a satisfactory management response.  
 
GMO 
 
The audit, carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, indicates that controls 
are operating effectively and, where shortcomings have been identified, that 
there has been a satisfactory management response.  
 
Insight Investment 
 
The audit carried out by KPMG LLP indicates that controls are operating 
effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that there has been a 
satisfactory response. 
 
Longview Partners LLP 
 
The audit, carried out by Moore Stephens LLP, indicates that controls are 
operating effectively and that no control shortcomings were identified. 
 

90



 

Oldfield Partners LLP 
 
The audit, carried out by Deloitte LLP, indicates that controls are operating 
effectively and that no control shortcomings were identified. 
 
Pantheon  
 
The audit, carried out by KPMG LLP, indicates that controls are operating 
effectively and that no control shortcomings were identified. 
 
Record Currency Management Ltd 
 
The audit, carried out by Grant Thornton UK LLP, indicates that controls are 
operating effectively and that no control shortcomings were identified. 
 
Standard Life Investments Inc 
 
The audit carried out by KPMG LLP indicates that controls are operating 
effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that there has been a 
satisfactory response. 
 
 
State Street Global Advisors 
 
The audit, carried out by Ernst and Young LLP, indicates that controls are 
operating effectively and, where shortcomings have been identified, that there 
has been a satisfactory management response.  
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
4. Whilst the performance and effective controls of the fund managers is of 

paramount importance in the performance of the Pension Fund , there are 
no financial implications arising from this report.   

 

Risk Management Implications 
 
5. The risks arising from investment performance are included in the 

Pension Fund risk register. 

 
Equalities implications 
 
6. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
7.   Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the 

Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer contribution 
which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s 
priorities 

 

91



 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name     Dawn Calvert √  Director of Finance   
  
Date:      25 February 2016 

   

 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  
  
 

 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details  
 
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

92



Appendix  

 

Review of  Internal Controls at Fund Managers 

 

Aviva Investors 

“Report on Internal Controls” for the period 1 October 2014 to 30 September 
2015. 

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a) the description in sections D to G fairly presents the investment 
management services that were designed and implemented throughout 
the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015; 

b) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified 
control objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 
2015 and customers applied the complementary customer controls 
referred to in the scope paragraph of this report;  

c)  the controls tested, which together with the complementary customer 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this report, if operating 
effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that 
the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 
2015. 

Of the 171 controls tested by the auditor, 8 exceptions were identified. 

These exceptions and the management responses are included at the end of this 
appendix. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

93



 

BlackRock Inc 

“Report on Controls at BlackRock Placed in Operation and Tests of Operating 
Effectiveness for Asset Management Services” for the period 1 October, 2014 to 
30 September, 2015. 

Auditors: Deloitte and Touche LLP  

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a.) the description fairly presents the System that was designed and 
implemented throughout the period 1 October, 2014 to 30 September, 
2015; 

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description of 
the System were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the control objectives would be achieved if the controls operated 
effectively throughout the period 1 October, 2014 to 30 September, 2015, 
and user entities applied the complementary user entity controls 
contemplated in the design of BlackRock’s controls throughout the period 
1 October, 2014 to 30 September, 2015;   

c.) the controls tested, which together with the complementary user entity 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this report, if operating 
effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that 
the control objectives stated in the Description of the System were 
achieved, operated effectively throughout the period 1 October, 2014 to  
30 September, 2015. 

  Of the 137 controls tested by the auditor, 4 exceptions were identified: 

1.) Page 76 – Control D.1.8 – For 1 of 45 wire instructions selected for 
testing, performance of the dual authorisation was unable to be 
evidenced. Additionally, noted that the unique bank-approved stamps 
remain unlocked on a dedicated senior manager’s desk when not in use 
during office hours for the Tokyo, Japan location. 

Management Response: Due to the use of unique bank-approved 
stamps, Japanese trust banks do not require dual authorisation to process 
wire payments, but management requires dual authorisation for all manual 
payments globally. While dual authorisation could not be evidenced for 
one margin payment in a sample, management was able to confirm that 
the payment was appropriate. In February 2015, BlackRock and the 
Japanese trust banks implemented a new payment process whereby 
settlement instructions for individual margin movements are no longer 
required.  

 

 

94



2.) Page 79 – F.1.4 – For 1 of 25 securities selected for testing from the 
Unreviewed Securities Held in Positions Report, DIG was unable to 
provide evidence of research and monitoring.  

Management Response: Management confirmed that the modification 
made was authorised, however, evidence of continuous monitoring prior to 
resolution was not able to be provided for testing. The modified security 
was reviewed within eighteen business days. Management noted that the 
exception identified had no impact to BlackRock-managed client accounts.  

3.) Page 91 – L.1.1 – For 1 of 50 client reports selected for testing, 
performance of the quality assurance review was unable to be evidenced.  

Management Response: Management confirmed that the relevant teams 
were notified that the Australian fund-specific report was available for 
quality assurance review,  however, no evidence of review was available 
for testing. Client Reporting Management re-emphasised the importance 
of maintaining the evidence of completed reviews. Additionally, Aladdin 
Client Reporting, a centralised deliverable management tool that captures 
evidence of approval as a key element of the overall production process, 
has been implemented in Australia for client-specific deliverables.  

4.) Page 102 – Q.1.3 – For 2 of 102 individuals across new hires, transfers, 
and terminations selected for testing to identify timely notification by HR to 
corporate groups, noted that HR-act transfer notifications were  not sent 
timely. New access was not granted until notifications were received.  

Management Response: HR Management re-emphasised the 
importance of the quality and timeliness of HR notifications as well as the 
retention of applicable documentation to the teams responsible for 
processing personnel updates in the HR system of record. HR is reviewing 
the timeliness of transfer notifications and processing through key metrics 
and process review.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95



GMO 

“Report On GMO’s Description of its Advisory Services System and on the 
Suitability of the Design and Operating Effectiveness of Controls” for the period 
October 6, 2014 to September 30, 2015 

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a.) the description fairly presents the Advisory Services System that was 
designed and implemented throughout the period October 6 2014 to 
September 30 2015;  

b.) the controls related to the control objectives of GMO stated in the 
description were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the control objectives would be achieved if the controls operated 
effectively throughout the period October 6 2014 to September 30 2015 
and user entities applied the complementary user entity controls 
contemplated in the design of GMO’s controls throughout the period 
October 6 2014 to September 30 2015; 

c.) the controls of GMO tested, which together with the complementary user 
entity controls referred to in the scope section of this report, if operating 
effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that 
the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period October 6 2014 to September 30 2015.  

Of the 159 controls tested by the auditor, 2 exceptions were identified:  

1) Page 55 – Control 1d – For 1 of 5 samples selected for testing, the 
review of updated client account information from the unit registry was not 
performed for an Australian account in a timely manner.  

Management Response: Management acknowledges the finding. GMO 
has implemented process changes which are designed to ensure that 
more timely reviews are carried out going forward.  

2) Page 59 – Control 2b – For 1 of 30 samples selected for testing, a 
change request for a US and UK account was not sent to the transfer 
agent in a timely manner.  

Management Response: Management acknowledges the finding. The 
communication of this specific type of change is done manually. 
Management is considering putting in place additional measures that 
could prevent reoccurence of this issue.  

 

 

 

96



 

 

Insight  Investment 

“Statement of Internal Controls Over Investment Management Services for the 
Year Ended 31 December 2014”  

Auditors: KPMG LLP 

In the Auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

d.) the description on pages 10 to 55 fairly presents the investment 
management activities that were designed and implemented throughout 
the period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014; 

e.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description on 
pages 10 to 55  were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described 
controls operated effectively throughout the period  from 1 January 2014 
to 31 December 2014; and  

f.) the controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to 
provide reasonable assurance that the related control objectives stated in 
the description were achieved throughout the period 1 January 2014 to 31 
December 2014. 

  Of the 133 controls tested by the auditor, 5 exceptions (of which 3 appear 
to relate to the same issue) were identified: 

1. KPMG also inspected the [currency risk management] set up schedule to 
determine whether the schedule had been signed off by Research and 
Currency Application Support Team to verify the accuracy and 
completeness of the restrictions coded. 

Exception noted; For 1 out of the 2 clients selected, it was noted that the 
signed account set up schedule had not been retained. 

Management response: The missing Account Set-up Schedule above 
refers to an existing account transition. All investment management 
activities were handled correctly. However, the CPM Team failed to follow 
the procedure of filing a paper based Account Set-up Schedule. The 
remedial action was to remind members of the CPM Team to follow the 
established procedure. 

 

 

 

97



2. For a selection of new [Currency Risk Management] accounts inspected 
the account set-up schedule to determine whether the schedule had been 
signed off by Research and Currency Application Support Team to verify 
the accuracy and completeness of the restrictions coded. 

Exception noted; For 1 out of the 2 clients selected, it was noted that the 

signed account set up schedule had not been retained. 

Management response: The missing Account Set-up Schedule above 
refers to an existing account transition. All investment management 
activities were handled correctly. However, the CPM Team failed to follow 
the procedure of filing a paper based Account Set-up Schedule. The 
remedial action was to remind members of the CPM Team to follow the 
established procedure. 

3. For a selection of weeks, inspected meeting minutes for the Investment 
Management Team meetings to determine whether the minutes included 
discussion of strategy and portfolio construction. 

Exception noted: For 1 out of 5 weeks selected it was noted that the 

meeting minutes had not been retained. 

Management response: The meeting referred to above is the Global 
Government meeting. The meeting was held as scheduled, however due 
to an administrative error, a copy of the minutes could not be located on 
file. The remedial action was to remind the meeting Secretary of the 
established procedure to retain meeting minutes. 

4. For a selection of client payment instructions, inspected the signed client 
instructions and relevant authorised signatory list to determine whether the 
client instructions had been validated by the CS team.  

KPMG also inspected the cash flow posting to determine whether the 
instruction had been input completely and accurately and it had been input 
and authorised by two members of the payments team. 

Exception noted: For 10 out of 40 client instructed payments selected 

Insight were unable to produce the original signed client instruction. 

Management response: The cash payments process was insourced from 
Northern Trust in August 2012. This resulted in a number of legacy regular 
payments moving from NT to Insight. 

A subsequent review of the process highlighted the fact that the original 
client instructions when each payment was established had not been 
retained by NT. This is not in line with Insight’s current procedures. 

 

 

 

98



At this point Insight assessed the risk profile of each client (and payment) 
for which there was no original authorisation on file. This was performed 
using the criteria for simplified due diligence. Each client and payment was 
concluded to be low risk and therefore a decision was made to re-seek the 
client instructions for filing at the next client review date. Low risk clients 
are on a 3 year cycle and therefore these original client instructions will 
not be on file until late 2015. 

5. For a selection of new [Currency Risk Management] accounts inspected 
the account set-up schedule to determine whether the schedule had been 
signed off by Research and Currency Application Support Team to verify 
the accuracy and completeness of the restrictions coded. 

Exception noted; For 1 out of the 2 clients selected, it was noted that the 

signed account set up schedule had not been retained. 

Management response: The missing Account Set-up Schedule above 
refers to an existing account transition. All investment management 
activities were handled correctly. However, the CPM Team failed to follow 
the procedure of filing a paper based Account Set-up Schedule. The 
remedial action was to remind members of the CPM Team to follow the 
established procedure. 

 

Longview Partners LLP 

“Assurance Report on Internal Controls” for the period 1 January 2014 to 31 
December 2014. 

Auditors: Moore Stephens LLP 

In the Auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a) the accompanying report by members describes fairly the control 
procedures that relate to the control objectives referred to above which 
were in place as at 31 December 2014; 

b) the control procedures described in section 6 were suitably designed such 
that there is reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that  the specified 
control objectives would have been achieved if the described control 
procedures were complied with satisfactorily; and  

c)  the control procedures that were tested, as set out in the attachment to 
this report were operating with sufficient effectiveness for us to obtain 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the related control objectives 
were achieved in the period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014. 

Of the 92 controls tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were identified 

 

 

99



 

Oldfield Partners LLP 

“AAF 01/06 Assurance Report on Internal Controls” for the period 1 July 2014 to 
30 June 2015 

Auditors: Deloitte LLP 

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a.) the description on pages 10 to 37 fairly presents the control procedures of 
Oldfield Partners LLP’s investment management services that were 
designed and implemented throughout the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 
2015; 

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description on 
pages 10 to 37 were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described 
controls operated effectively throughout the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 
2015; and 

c.) the controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to 
provide reasonable assurance, that the related control objectives stated in 
the description were achieved throughout the period 1 July 2014 to 30 
June 2015.  

Of the 153 controls tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were identified. 

 

Pantheon  

“Type II Report on Controls Placed in Operation Relating to Investment Advisory 
and Management Activities” for the period from 1 October, 2014 to 30 
September, 2015 

Auditors: KPMG LLP 

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a.) the Description fairly presents the Investment Advisory and Management 
Activities system as designed and implemented throughout the period 
from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015; 

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description were 
suitably designed throughout the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 
September 2015; and 

c.) the controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable 
assurance that the control objectives stated in the Description were 
achieved, operated effectively throughout the period from 1 October 2014 
to 30 September 2015. 

100



Of the 107 control objectives tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were 
identified: 

 

Record Currency Management Ltd 

“Report on Internal Controls (AAF 01/06)” for the period 1 April, 2014 to 31 
March, 2015. 

Auditors: Grant Thornton UK LLP 

The auditors confirmed that: 

a.) the report describes fairly the control procedures that relate to the control 
objectives referred to above which were in place as at 31 March 2015; 

b.) the control procedures described are suitably designed such that there is 
reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be 
achieved if the described control procedures were complied with 
satisfactorily; and 

c.) the control procedures described were operating with sufficient 
effectiveness to provide reasonable  assurance that the related control 
objective were achieved during the specified period.  

Of the 137 controls tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were identified. 

 

Standard Life Investments 

“Internal Controls Report” for 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015  

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

In the Auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

(a) the description on pages 24 to 119 fairly presents the in-scope investment 
management services that were designed and implemented throughout 
the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015; 
 

(b) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified 
control objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 
2015 and clients applied the complementary client controls referred to in 
the scope paragraph of this report; 
 

 
 

101



(c) the controls tested, which together with the complementary client controls 
referred to in the scope paragraph of this report, if operating effectively, 
were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control 
objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively 
throughout the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015. 

 

Of the 334 controls tested by the auditor, 7 exceptions were identified: 

These exceptions and the management responses are included at the end of this 
appendix. 

 

State Street Global Advisors 

“Service Organisation Control Report”  July 1, 2014 – June 30, 2015 

Auditors: Ernst & Young LLP 

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects: 

a.) the Description fairly presents SSGA’s Investment Advisory System 
Applicable to the Processing of Client Transactions that was designed and 
implemented throughout the period July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015; 

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description were 
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the control 
objectives would be achieved if the controls operated effectively 
throughout the period July 1, 2014 to June 30,2015 and if user entities 
applied the complementary user entity controls contemplated in the design 
of SSGA’s controls and if State Street’s Information Technology and 
Global Security divisions applied the controls contemplated in the design 
of State Street’s controls throughout the period July 1, 2014 to June 30, 
2015;  

c.) the controls of SSGA tested, which, together with the complementary user 
entity controls and States Street’s Information Technology and Global 
Security divisions’ controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this report 
if operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable 
assurance that the control objectives stated in the Description were 
achieved, operated effectively throughout the period July 1, 2014 to June 
30, 2015.  

Of the 165 controls tested by the auditor, 4 exceptions were identified: 

1.) Control 2.1 – Out of a combined sample of 87 new or amended 
funds/accounts selected for testing, we identified the following deviations 
in the UK: 

• For 1 out of 25 new or amended fund/accounts selected for testing, 
a checklist was not completed 

102



• For 2 out of 25 new or amended fund/accounts selected for testing, 
the checklist was not reviewed by a second person  

Management Response: Management acknowledges that for 1 out of 25 
new or amended fund/accounts selected for testing in the UK, a checklist 
was not completed. Management also acknowledges that for 2 out of 25 
new or amended fund/accounts selected for testing in the UK, the 
checklist was not reviewed by a second person. Management confirmed 
that the new or amended funds/accounts procedures were performed 
accurately and timely based on the contract/agreement. Management has 
reinforced with the appropriate personnel the requirement to maintain 
proper documentation of review. 

2.) Control 12.1 – Accounts set up as Investment Programs or Mandates in 

CRS in the US: 

• For all 3 accounts selected for testing during the period July 1 2014 
to March 31 2015 the client reporting package did not include the 
new account. Management determined that all accounts set up in 
the US as Investment Programs or Mandates during the period July 
1 2014 to March 31 2015 were not included on the respective client 
reporting package. 

- No deviations were noted for accounts set up as Investment 
Programs or Mandates in CRS during the period April 1 2015 to 
June 30 2015.   

Management Response: Management acknowledges that for the 3 
accounts tested, the new account was not included in the client reporting 
package. Management determined that due to a transition of responsibility 
in setting up new accounts, certain manual steps were not completed for 
accounts set up as Investment Programs or Mandates and therefore were 
excluded from being captured in the client reporting package. 
Management performed a full analysis of the July 2014 through March 
2015 time periods and found that 60 new accounts set up as Investment 
Programs or Mandates out of 601 total new accounts were omitted from 
the pdf version of their respective performance report and were therefore 
not included in the client reporting package. This affected 13 out of 189 
clients that had changes and 53 reports out of 13,513 that were distributed 
during this time. Refer to Section V “Client Reporting” for additional 
information on the availability of client reports and information on 
ssga.com. Effective April 1 2015, Management has implemented an 
additional step within the change management process of identifying client 
package configuration levels of Client, Investment Program and Mandate 
in the New/Closed Account report. Management has reinforced with 
appropriate personnel the applicable change management process that 
needs to be followed for all client report changes. 

 

 

103



3.) Control 13.6 – For 2 out of 2 monthly RMS generated listings of approved 
invoices selected for testing, it was noted that the invoice listings and 
exceptions were not reviewed timely.  

Management Response: Management acknowledges that for 2 out of 2 
monthly RMS generated listings of approved invoices selected for testing, 
it was noted that the invoice listings and exceptions were not reviewed 
timely. Management confirms that all invoices on the 2 monthly RMS 
generated listings of approved invoices were prepared and reviewed by 
separate individuals. Management has reinforced the requirement to 
perform timely review of the RMS generated listing of approved invoices.   

4.) Control 13.7 – For 2 out of 2 monthly reconciliations of client prepared 
invoices to RMS fee calculations selected for testing it was noted that the 
review of the reconciliations was not performed timely.  

Management Response: Management acknowledges that for 2 out of 2 
monthly reconciliations of client prepared invoices to RMS fee calculations 
selected for testing were not reviewed timely. Management confirms that 
variances were researched as appropriate. Management has reinforced 
the requirement to perform timely review of the fee payment reconciliation.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

104



Table showing number of controls tested by each manager and the number of 

exceptions as reported to Committee in 2014, 2015 and 2016 

 

Fund 

Manager 

 

Control 

Objectives 

Tested 

2014 

Report 

Number of 

Exceptions 

2014 

Report 

Control 

Objectives 

Tested 

2015 

Report 

Number of 

Exceptions 

2015 

Report 

Control 

Objectives 

Tested 

2016 

Report 

Number of 

Exceptions 

2016 

Report 

Aviva 

 

158 5 177 7 171 8 

BlackRock 

 

182 5 138 2 137 4 

GMO N/A N/A 200 1 159 2 

Insight N/A N/A 133 5 

 

133 5 

Longview 101 0 92 0 

 

92 0 

Oldfield 

Partners 

LLP 

N/A N/A 149 3 153 0 

Pantheon 

 

97 1 103 1 107 0 

Record 

 

137 3 138 0 137 0 

 

Standard 

Life 

213 4 232 4 334 7 

State 

Street 

159 5 156 

 

3 165 4 

 

 

105



 

 

106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Board 

Date of Meeting: 

 

22 March 2016 

Subject: 

 

Information Report – Environmental, 
Social and Governance Issues in Pension 
Fund Investment 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance  
 

Exempt: 

 

No 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix 1 – UN PRI and UK Stewardship 
Code 
Appendix 2 – Submissions received from 
Fund Managers. 
  

 
 

Section 1 – Summary  
 

 
The report sets out the responses received to requests made to the Fund 
managers in relation to the Pension Fund Committee’s consideration at their 
last meeting of the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Issues. As 
requested by the Pension Fund Committee, the Board is asked to consider 
the need for admitted bodies to be involved in consideration of the importance 
of ESG issues and to what extent the views of the beneficiaries and 
representatives of beneficiaries should be taken into account.  
 
 
 

FOR INFORMATION 

Agenda Item 13
Pages 115 to 154

115



 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. At their meeting on 25 November 2015 the Pension Fund Committee 

received a report discussing Environmental, Social and Governance 
Issues and Pension Fund Investment and resolved that: 

 
(1) investment managers and Aon Hewitt, Council’s Investment Adviser, 

be asked to advise whether they had signed up to UN Principles for 
Responsible Investment (PRI);  

 
(2) investment managers and Aon Hewitt, Council’s Investment Adviser, 

be asked to confirm that they had signed up to “The UK Stewardship 
Code” and to provide reports on their engagement and voting actions; 

 
(3) in the light of the responses received to resolutions (1) and (2) above, 

the Fund consider further whether to sign up to “The UK Stewardship 
Code” in its own right following the receipt of a further report setting 
out any conditions in relation to appendix 3 of the report and concerns 
about creating an infrastructure dependent on resolutions (1) and (2) 
above; 

 
(4) the Fund take a more active involvement in the Local Authority 

Pension Fund Forum by attending meetings at a Member or officer 
level and by more specifically associating itself with various initiatives;  

 
(5) within the Statement of Investment Principles the current paragraph on 

“social, environmental or ethical considerations” be amended in 
accordance with paragraph 27 of the report and those made at the 
meeting, as follows:  
“The Council recognises that it has a paramount duty to seek to obtain 
the best possible return on the Fund’s investments taking into account 
a properly considered level of risk. As a general principle it considers 
that the long-term financial performance of a country/asset in which it 
invests is likely to be enhanced if good practice is followed in 
environmental, social and governance activities.  
All the Fund’s investments are managed by external fund managers 
mostly within pooled funds. Currently, one is passively managed and 
one is specifically invested in emerging markets. The Council 
recognises the constraints inherent in this policy. Nevertheless it 
expects its external fund managers, acting in the best financial interests 
of the Fund, to consider, amongst other factors, the effects of 
environmental, social and other issues on the performance of countries 
and assets in which they invest.  
The Council expects its external fund managers to have signed up to 
“The UK Stewardship Code” and to report regularly on their compliance 
with the Code and other relevant environmental, social and governance 
principles.”  

 
 
 
 

116



 

(6) the Pension Board be requested to consider the need for admitted 
bodies to be involved in consideration of the importance of ESG issues 
and to what extent the views of the beneficiaries and representatives 
of beneficiaries should be taken into account.  
 

2. This report addresses resolutions (1) and (2) and Appendix 1 details the 
two sets of principles. 

 
3. All the Fund managers except Record Currency were approached and all 

have responded with the following results: 
 

Aviva 
 
Aviva have provided a large amount of information regarding ‘Responsible 
Investment’ but this largely relates to their equity mandates and not 
specifically to the Fund’s property mandate.  
 
Further discussions with Aviva are to take place but they have stated the 
following in regard to their Global Real Estate Division 
 

• ESG is embedded in our direct portfolios and pooled funds (who 
subscribe to GRESB) 

• ESG is a key element of our indirect real estate strategy and 
investment process 

 

BlackRock 
 
BlackRock have confirmed that they have signed up to the UN PRI and their 
current position regarding each of the principles within the UK Stewardship 
code is attached in a 2 page document in appendix 2.  
 
A summary of their position is ‘As a fiduciary asset manager, BlackRock’s 
pursuit of good corporate governance stems from our responsibility to protect 
and enhance the economic value of the companies in which we invest on 
behalf of our clients. Encouraging the highest standards of board leadership 
and executive management in these companies is central to achieving that 
goal. That is why we have created one of the largest Corporate Governance 
and Responsible Investment (CGRI) teams in the industry to engage with the 
management of companies in which we invest and help us deliver long-term 
value to our clients. BlackRock believes it complies with the majority of 
recommendations of the UK Stewardship Code. We have set out below our 
approach to the key recommendations and explained our reasons for taking a 
different approach to that proposed in the Code where relevant’. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

117



 

GMO 
 
GMO have provided two short documents entitled ‘GMO Statement Regarding 
ESG‘ and GMO UK Ltd Statement of Policy on the Principles of the UK 
Stewardship Code which are included within Appendix 2 
 
As regards UN PRI, whilst in their covering email they state they are actively 
pursuing signing up to these principles, they explain their current stance as 
follows: 
 
‘GMO has carefully reviewed the UNPRI and determined not to sign the 
Principles at this stage. The main rationale for this decision is that we believe 
that certain of the Principles would conflict with and/or distract GMO from its 
primary objective of delivering the best risk-adjusted returns to each of its 
clients. While ESG issues, as such, are not formally part of our investment 
objectives, certain elements of our security analysis and investment 
processes may be consistent with managing ESG issues’ 

 
Their views on the Stewardship code are ‘As an investment manager 
employing mainly quantitative techniques in our investment strategies we tend 
not to participate with the collective engagement of companies’ 
 

Insight 
 
Insight have provided a 74 page document entitled ‘Putting Principles Into 
Practice - Insight’s Annual Report on Responsible Investment 2014’ 
 
The have stated that ‘It confirms that Insight have indeed renewed our 
commitment to the UN PRI, to which we were a founding signatory, and also 
the Financial Reporting Council’s UK Stewardship Code’ 
 
The report goes into detail as follows: 
 

• Responsible Investment At Insight 

• How Insight Meets Its Commitments 

• Responsible Investment Activities In 2014 

• How Insight Implements Its Responsible Investment Policy 

• The Responsibilities Of Investors 

• Is Responsible Investment Ethical?  

• Social Capital And Responsible Investment 

• Managing Environmental Risks In Portfolios 

 
Longview 
 
Longview, in their covering email state ‘I can however confirm that Longview 
Partners is a signatory to the United Nations Principles for Responsible 
Investment and also fully supports and is committed to the UK Stewardship 
Code’  
 
 

118



 

Longview have also confirmed their compliance with the UK Stewardship 
Code and have provided a detailed report as included in the Appendix 2. 
 
They have also provided a report detailing their engagement meetings with 
various companies/institutions. 
 

Oldfields 
 
Oldfields have provided three short documents entitled ‘Statement of 
compliance with the UK Stewardship Code,’ ‘Environmental, Social, 
Governance Q&A’ and ‘Proxy voting and engagement report – 2015’, the first 
two of which are included in Appendix 2. 

 
Within these documents and their covering email Oldfields state: 
 
‘In the ESG Q&A we explain why we are not currently a signatory to the 
UNPRI.  We are essentially in favour but we don’t believe the infrastructure is 
in place to handle collective engagement.  We have spoken with the ABI, the 
FRC and the UK Investor Forum on this subject, hoping that the necessary 
protection and processes can be put in place so we can confidently 
collaborate with other investors and if so, we would become a signatory.’ 
 
 ‘We are not currently a UN PRI signatory, as we are not yet comfortable that 
Principle 5 (working together to enhance effectiveness in implementing the 
Principles) has the necessary infrastructure and protections we think 
necessary. We have held numerous conversations with the Financial 
Reporting Council in the UK on this issue and have made clear our concerns 
about engaging or collaborating with other managers when it is not clear 
whether they have long or short positions. However, we have recently joined 
the Investor Forum, hoping this can provide the platform for the kind of 
collective efforts the PRI promotes.’ 
 
 

Pantheon 
 
Pantheon have provided a customised response included within Appendix 2. 
Their answers to the specific questions are as follows: 
 
Pantheon is a signatory of the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) 
and has used these principles as a framework to develop its ESG policy 
across all its investment activities. Pantheon was also a founding member of 
the PRI Private Equity Steering Committee and only withdrew in 2014 due to 
a maximum tenure being exceeded. Pantheon has remained involved in sub-
committees and continues to assist the PRI with logistics and speakers at 
conferences. 

 
 
 
 

119



 

Although Pantheon has not yet signed up to the UK Stewardship Code, the 
principles contained within the UK Stewardship Code are akin to Pantheon’s 
ongoing active engagement with the managers in which we invest. Effective 
post-investment care and the maintenance of close relationships are 
important to maximize the value of Pantheon’s fund investments, protect client 
interests and to evaluate the investment activity within each fund. Our active 
involvement on Advisory Boards of the funds in which we invest, as well as 
our policy on voting, is outlined below. 

 
As a PRI signatory, Pantheon has committed to follow a policy of active 
ownership, requiring us to vote on all matters. In private equity, voting may 
take place on any number of governance, legal or investment matters and 
therefore each voting matter is considered on a case by case basis. For this 
reason, Pantheon does not have an internal reference guide to cover all 
voting matters. 
 

Standard Life 
 
In their covering email Standard life advised as follows: 
 
‘Standard Life Investments is a signatory to both the UK Stewardship Code 
and UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI).  Voting activity on all 
the companies we invest in are all published and updated regularly on the 
Governance & Stewardship section of our website’ 
 
In their 24 page Governance & Stewardship Review 2014 there are detailed 
sections on engagement and global voting. 
 

State Street 
 
State Street have provided the following link to a large amount of information 
including their statement on the UK Stewardship Code. 
 
https://www.ssga.com/eu/gb/pension-investor/en/products-
capabilities/capabilities/corporate-governance-and-voting-policy.html 
 
Their compliance with the Stewardship Code is included within Appendix 2 
and the rest of their submission is being reviewed. 
 
4. As requested by the Committee, the Board is asked to consider the need 

for admitted bodies to be involved in consideration of the importance of 
ESG issues and to what extent the views of the beneficiaries and 
representatives of beneficiaries should be taken into account.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

120



 

Financial Implications 
 
5. Whilst the attitude of Fund managers to ESG issues can have a 

significant impact on the performance of the Fund there are no financial 
implications arising from this report.   

 

Risk Management Implications 
 
6. The risks arising from the management and investment of funds are 

included in the Pension Fund risk register. 

 
Equalities implications 
 
7. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
8.     Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the 

Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer contribution 
which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s 
priorities. 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
 

Name     Dawn Calvert √  Director of Finance  

  
Date:      25 February 2016 

   

 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  
  
 

 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details  
 
 

Contact:  Ian Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager      
0208 424 1450 
 

Background Papers - None 
 
 

121



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

122



 

APPENDIX 1 

 

THE UN PRINCIPLES FOR RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT (PRI) 
 

• We will incorporate ESG issues into investment analysis and decision-making 

processes 

• We will be active owners and incorporate ESG issues into our ownership 

policies and practices 

• We will seek appropriate disclosure on ESG issues by the entities in which we 

invest 

• We will promote acceptance and implementation of the Principles with the 

investment industry 

• We will work together to enhance our effectiveness in implementing the 

Principles 

• We will report on our activities and progress towards implementing the 

Principles 

 
THE INSTITUTIONAL SHAREHOLDERS COMMITTEE (ISC) CODE ON THE 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS (“THE UK STEWARDSHIP 
CODE”) 
 

• Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy on how they will 

discharge their stewardship responsibilities 

• Institutional investors should have a robust policy on managing conflicts of 

interest in relation to stewardship and this policy should be publicly disclosed 

• Institutional investors should monitor their investee companies 

• Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on when and how they 

will escalate their stewardship activities as a method of protecting and 

enhancing shareholder value 

• Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively with other investors 

where appropriate 

• Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of 

voting activity 

• Institutional investors should report periodically on their stewardship and 

voting activities  

 

123



124

This page is intentionally left blank



As a fiduciary asset manager, BlackRock’s pursuit of good 

corporate governance stems from our responsibility to 

protect and enhance the economic value of the companies 

in which we invest on behalf of our clients. Encouraging the 

highest standards of board leadership and executive 

management in these companies is central to achieving that 

goal. That is why we have created one of the largest 

Corporate Governance and Responsible Investment (CGRI) 

teams in the industry to engage with the management of 

companies in which we invest and help us deliver long-term 

value to our clients. 

BlackRock believes it complies with the majority of 

recommendations of the UK Stewardship Code.  We have 

set out below our approach to the key recommendations 

and explained our reasons for taking a different approach to 

that proposed in the Code where relevant.  Any questions 

on this statement or BlackRock’s approach to stewardship 

more generally should be addressed to Amra Balic, EMEA 

Head of CGRI at europecgri@blackrock.com.  

Principle 1:  Institutional investors should publicly 

disclose their policy on how they will discharge their 

stewardship responsibilities. 

BlackRock’s Global Corporate Governance and 

Engagement Principles, as well as our market-specific 

voting guidelines, are published on our website.  In these 

we explain our philosophy on stewardship (including how 

we monitor and engage with companies), our voting policy, 

our integrated approach to stewardship matters and how we 

deal with conflicts of interest.  These apply across different 

asset classes and products as permitted by investment 

strategies.  Although we use a different terminology to that 

in the Code we address most of its guidance either in the 

Principles, which are applied internationally, or in our 

market-specific voting guidelines.  These documents are 

reviewed and updated annually.  Our voting is conducted by 

the CGRI team of 20 specialists who are a central 

clearinghouse for our global investment teams to ensure we 

deliver a consistent message to companies.  We publish an 

annual review which summarises our activities, which is 

also available on our website:   

http://www.blackrock.com/corporate/en-gb/about-

us/responsible-investment  

Principle 2:  Institutional investors should have a robust 

policy on managing conflicts of interests in relation to 

stewardship and this policy should be publicly 

disclosed. 

BlackRock maintains policies and procedures that are 

designed to prevent undue influence on BlackRock’s proxy 

voting activity that might stem from any relationship 

between the issuer of a proxy (or any dissident shareholder) 

and BlackRock, BlackRock’s affiliates, a Fund (or 

BlackRock’s segregated client) or a Fund’s (or BlackRock’s 

segregated client’s) affiliates. Steps BlackRock has taken to 

prevent conflicts include, but are not limited to:  

•BlackRock has adopted a proxy voting oversight structure 

whereby the Corporate Governance Committees oversee 

the voting decisions and other activities of the CGRI team, 

and particularly its activities with respect to voting in the 

relevant region of each Corporate Governance Committee’s 

jurisdiction.  

•The Corporate Governance Committees have adopted 

Guidelines for each region, which set forth the firm’s views 

with respect to certain corporate governance and other 

issues that typically arise in the proxy voting context.  

•BlackRock’s Global Corporate Governance Committee 

oversees the Global Head of CGRI, the CGRI team and the 

Corporate Governance Committees.  

•BlackRock maintains a reporting structure that separates 

the Global Head of CGRI and the CGRI team from 

employees with sales responsibilities.  

•In certain instances, BlackRock may determine to engage 

an independent fiduciary to vote proxies as a further 

safeguard to avoid potential conflicts of interest or as 

otherwise required by applicable law.   

In all situations the overriding purpose of our responsible 

investment policy is to protect and enhance the economic 

interests of our clients. 

Principle 3:  Institutional investors should monitor their 

investee companies. 

BlackRock’s fundamental equity portfolio managers and the 

CGRI team monitor and, when appropriate, engage with 

investee companies. Our approach is explained in our 

Global Corporate Governance and Engagement Principles 

and our UK voting guidelines. We believe our practices are 

in accordance with the guidance in Principle 3 with one 

exception. Although we might occasionally attend general 

meetings of investee companies, we do not attend a 

significant number of AGMs as we believe we serve our 

clients’ interests better by dedicating our time to one-to-one 

meetings. 

In certain situations BlackRock, in particular the CGRI team, 

is willing to become an insider; however our policy is to 

ensure that inside information is not communicated to any 

member of the investment team without our prior 

agreement.  Where BlackRock does become an insider, we 

will act in accordance with the policies and processes laid 

out in our Compliance Manual.  

 

 

 

 

Statement on compliance with the  
UK Stewardship Code 

March 2014 

1 
125



Principle 4:  Institutional investors should establish 

clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate 

their stewardship activities. 

In our Global Corporate Governance and Engagement 

Principles and our voting guidelines we explain when we 

would undertake more active engagement, namely when we 

believe this will enhance and/or protect the economic 

interests of long-term shareholders (notionally our clients).  

We believe that our approach to engagement is consistent 

with the intent of the Code although we would note the 

following areas where our approach differs from its 

guidelines.  As we approach each engagement individually 

we do not have a prescribed escalation strategy, as 

suggested by the Code, as we do not see engagement as 

mechanistic.  However, triggers for engagement can include 

our assessment that there is potential for material economic 

ramifications for shareholders resulting from a governance 

concern.  Where we are concerned about the strategic 

direction the company is taking or the performance of 

management in delivering strategy, we will engage more 

heavily.  Through regular and frank meetings with 

management, we try as much as possible to raise queries 

before they become concerns that require intervention.  

BlackRock is very unlikely to make public statements about 

our engagements or to call an extraordinary general 

meeting or propose shareholder resolutions.  Our 

preference is to engage privately as we believe it better 

serves the long-term interests of our clients to establish 

relationships, and a reputation, with companies that 

enhances rather than hinders dialogue. 

Principle 5:  Institutional investors should be willing to 

act collectively with other investors where appropriate. 

When we believe it is likely to enhance our ability to engage 

with a company or to achieve the desired outcome, and it is 

permitted by law and regulation, BlackRock will work with 

other investors.  To that end, BlackRock is an active 

member of nearly 40 formal groups and initiatives 

internationally that facilitate communication between 

shareholders and companies on corporate governance and 

social, ethical and environmental matters.  We will also 

engage collectively on matters of public policy, when 

appropriate. 

 

Principle 6:  Institutional investors should have a clear 

policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity. 

BlackRock’s voting guidelines are published on our website.  

In our Global Corporate Governance   and Engagement 

Principles we explain our approach to reporting to clients.  

We disclose our voting publicly each year in a filing with the 

US Securities and Exchange Commission, which is also 

posted to our website.  Our voting is conducted by the CGRI 

team.  Voting decisions are taken after review of research 

from a number of global and local proxy advisory firms and 

the team’s own research of company materials, broker 

research, and other publicly available information.  We use 

an electronic voting platform to execute the vote 

instructions.  In certain markets, we leverage vendors to 

apply our internal voting policies to filter out routine or non-

contentious proposals.  This allows us to focus our time on 

addressing the most pressing governance concerns which 

are referred to us for decision. 

BlackRock does not borrow shares solely for the purpose of 

exercising voting rights.  With respect to our stock lending 

program, BlackRock pays due regard to the interests of its 

clients and it is from this perspective that our policy is 

defined.  There is, therefore, no presumption in favour of 

either continuing to lend securities or recalling on-loan 

securities to vote.  Each situation is analysed based on 

client agreements and preferences and on the nature of the 

voting item.  We recall our on-loan stock when we consider 

it to be in our clients’ best interests to vote on all of our 

holdings. 

Principle 7:  Institutional investors should report 

periodically on their stewardship and voting activities. 

BlackRock publishes an annual review which summarises 

our stewardship activities, including engagement trends and 

case studies as well as voting statistics.  We disclose our 

voting publicly each year in a filing with the US Securities 

and Exchange Commission.  The processes relating to our 

corporate governance activities are audited periodically by 

BlackRock Internal Audit 

 

 

 

 

Statement on compliance with the  
UK Stewardship Code 

2 

March 2014 

This material is for distribution to Professional Clients (as defined by the FCA Rules) and should not be relied upon by any other persons.   

 

 Issued by BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited, authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  Registered office: 12 Throgmorton Avenue, London, EC2N 2DL.  Tel: 020 7743 

3000.  Registered in England No. 2020394.  For your protection telephone calls are usually recorded.  BlackRock is a trading name of BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited. 

 

This document is for information purposes only and does not constitute an offer or invitation to anyone to invest in any BlackRock funds and has not been prepared in connection with any such offer.    

 

© 2014 BlackRock, Inc. All Rights reserved. BLACKROCK, BLACKROCK SOLUTIONS,  iSHARES, SO WHAT DO I DO WITH MY MONEY, INVESTING FOR A NEW WORLD, and BUILT FOR THESE TIMES are 

registered and unregistered trademarks of BlackRock, Inc. or its subsidiaries in the United States and elsewhere. All other trademarks are those of their respective owners.  

126



GMO Statement regarding ESG [Environmental, Social and Governance] Principles 

As of September 2015 

 

For more than 35 years, GMO has been a premier provider of investment management solutions 

to our global client base, consisting of some of the most prestigious institutional investors from 

the ranks of corporate and public defined benefit and defined contribution plans, foundations, 

endowments and sovereign wealth funds, among others. Our expertise covers a broad spectrum 

of capital markets, including developed and emerging equities, developed and emerging fixed 

income, asset allocation, forestry, agriculture and a full complement of absolute return-oriented 

strategies.   

 

In terms of delivering on our objectives to clients, GMO’s various investment teams utilize a 

number of approaches in seeking to identify attractively-valued assets. We were one of the early 

innovators in quantitative investing and continue to use systematic disciplines today. In addition, 

we have a deep pool of talented fundamental investment professionals in our ranks.     

 

GMO’s primary objective is to deliver the best risk-adjusted returns for each of the strategies that 

the firm offers. In executing on that objective we remain focused on delivering superior 

investment results, always mindful of the fiduciary duty we have to each of our clients.  

 

GMO recognizes that views vary among investors as to the importance and relevance of ESG 

factors to their investment strategies and we presently manage several client accounts that 

incorporate ESG-related factors, such as social screens. In such cases, our clients have 

established separately managed portfolios (subject to our asset-level requirements which may 

vary for each strategy) and we adhere to the clearly proscribed guidelines and/or objective 

screening criteria provided by our clients. At this time, GMO is able to provide limited assistance 

in the design and ongoing maintenance of such screens. Clients should make their own 

assessment of the potential impact ESG screening could have on risk-adjusted returns.  

 

In what follows, we describe in more detail the extent to which our investment processes are 

consistent with key ESG-related principles. 

 

Do we consider ESG issues in our investment analysis and decision-making processes?  

 

Delivering the best risk-adjusted returns is our primary objective. We do not incorporate ESG 

issues as a secondary objective and our current research shows that incorporating ESG factors 

into our investment processes could not be relied upon to consistently produce excess returns or 

reduce risk for our clients.  

 

127



For example, the investment processes for the strategies managed by our equity teams (Emerging 

Markets Equity, Focused Equity, Global Equity and International Active) rely on our evaluation 

of companies’ published financial information, securities’ prices, equity and bond markets, and 

the overall economy. In order to provide as broad an opportunity set as possible, we try not to 

constrain the universes to which we apply our stock selection disciplines and thus generally do 

not incorporate ESG or other potentially restrictive screens. ESG continues to be an area of 

research, but currently is applied on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis and not embedded in the core 

of our investment philosophy or process.  

 

In the rare instances where our equity teams formally incorporate ESG considerations into a 

strategy’s investment process, the primary impetus for doing so is a belief that ESG 

considerations will not negatively impact return prospects. For example, the investment universe 

for GMO’s Resources Strategy, managed by our Focused Equity team, has firms with 

particularly poor ESG histories. Our research in this narrow universe suggested that screening 

these companies out would not have a material impact on returns.   

 

Within our core investment processes, there are certain measures of profitability we do evaluate 

that may correlate with good governance and a sustainable business. For example, many of our 

equity strategies incorporate an evaluation of a company’s “quality,” defined by GMO as high 

and stable levels of profitability and relatively low levels of debt. While not an explicit objective 

of our quality factor, we have observed over time that there is a correlation between companies 

that rank high on our quality measure and those that rank high on social and governance criteria. 

This relationship could, of course, change at any time. 

 

In our fundamental equity strategies managed by the International Active team, we often 

consider issues that have ESG elements in the normal course of evaluating a company’s 

valuation level and future prospects. ESG elements will be included where we believe they have 

a significant impact on the expected return or risk of an investment. It is generally the 

International Active team’s belief that good corporate governance will affect a firm’s valuation 

positively, and we prioritize company efficiency and waste minimization, which we believe leads 

to higher profitability over time. In addition, we believe that companies that collaborate with the 

communities in which they do business are more likely to be successful in the long run. Beyond 

this, the team considers social and environmental issues from a risk management perspective and 

screens companies regarding potentially significant reputational risk issues (including but not 

limited to social or environmental issues) and will tend to penalize those companies relative to 

their industry peers in its analysis.   

 

Our fixed income strategy mix contains both traditional (Core Plus, and Global) and specialty 

(Emerging Debt and asset-backed securities) strategies. None of GMO’s fixed income strategy 

universes has been narrowed based on ESG-related principles, and none of those investment 

processes has been designed with such principles in mind. Given that the universes from which 

we select securities and our value-added processes generally relate to sovereign, quasi-sovereign, 

and asset-backed debt markets, it is unlikely that we will explicitly factor environmental, social 

or governance factors into our fixed income strategies. 

 

128



To what extent will we be active owners and incorporate ESG issues into our ownership 

policies and practices? 

 

As long-term investors, we seek to defend the interests of our clients not only at the time of 

initial purchase of securities, but also over the full period these securities are held in the 

portfolios. Therefore, GMO votes on the equity investments it manages in pooled funds and 

separately managed accounts unless – in the case of separately managed accounts – clients direct 

otherwise. 

 

In our pooled funds and where separate account clients have delegated proxy voting to us, GMO 

has engaged Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS) to act as its proxy voting agent. ISS 

undertakes research, makes voting recommendations and ensures votes are submitted in a timely 

manner. In the majority of cases, GMO acts in accordance with those recommendations. Full 

details of GMO’s voting policy, including default positions on matters of corporate governance, 

are set out in the document entitled “Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures” as of June 25, 2014. 

A copy of GMO’s Proxy Voting Policy is available upon request or may be found on the SEC’s 

website, www.sec.gov, as part of GMO Trust’s registration statement. Proxy voting reports are 

also available upon request. As with the fundamental analysis performed by our International 

Active investment team, we may incorporate a variety of factors (which may include ESG issues 

if we determine they are relevant) when deciding to vote proxies in a particular manner.  

 

To what extent will GMO seek appropriate disclosure on ESG issues by the entities in which 

we invest? 

 

As described in our proxy voting policy, we have been supportive of initiatives that lead firms to 

disclose all aspects that could materially impact the value of a firm, including – where we 

consider it relevant – ESG issues. For example, we generally vote in favor of independent board 

directors if the majority of the current board members are not independent. In terms of our 

fundamental research, where applicable, our portfolio managers will similarly push/probe firms 

to disclose all aspects that could materially impact the value of a firm, including – where we 

consider it relevant – ESG issues.  

 

Why hasn’t GMO signed the UN Principles for Responsible Investing (UN PRI)? 

 

GMO has carefully reviewed the UNPRI and determined not to sign the Principles at this stage. 

The main rationale for this decision is that we believe that certain of the Principles would 

conflict with and/or distract GMO from its primary objective of delivering the best risk-adjusted 

returns to each of its clients. While ESG issues, as such, are not formally part of our investment 

objectives, certain elements of our security analysis and investment processes may be consistent 

with managing ESG issues (as described above).  

 

129



GMO Renewable Resources has separately signed up to UN PRI 

 

GMO Renewable Resources, LLC (GMORR), a majority-owned joint venture of GMO LLC, has 

separately become a signatory of the UN PRI. GMORR is a  separately registered investment  

adviser specializing in direct forestry, farmland and other land-related investments and from its 

beginning has believed that, in light of its focus on forestry, agriculture and other land-related 

investments, careful consideration of environmental, social and governance issues is critical to 

minimizing risk and maximizing returns to its investors. Consequently, ESG principles are 

integral to the team’s investment process as GMORR strives to operate responsibly and 

sustainably in all aspects of its business.  

 

GMORR typically invests in regions where land ownership rights are well developed. GMORR 

strives to make choices that improve the long-term sustainability of their activities including (1) 

enhancing and promoting environmental sustainability; (2) respecting land, resources and human 

rights; (3) social sustainability, including maintaining consistent safety standards; and (4) good 

governance, including close supervision of financial and operating activities. In addition to being 

a signatory of the UN PRI, GMORR typically seeks certification for its timberland assets under a 

national or international standard except in (1) situations where it does not have full control and 

in (2) Greenfield projects which do not yet have cash flow to support the costs of certification. 

GMORR is also exploring the development of metrics and monitoring processes to measure 

factors that contribute to sustainability on agricultural properties.  

 

Summary  

 

In conclusion, our primary mission as an investment management firm is to deliver the best risk-

adjusted returns for our clients. As described more fully above, there are certainly instances 

where ESG-related factors are considered, but only to the extent that we believe they lead to 

better risk-adjusted returns for our clients. 

 

 

 

 

130



�

�

�

�

�

GMO UK Ltd Statement 

of Policy on the Principles 

of the UK Stewardship 

Code 

 

Revised: October 2012�

 

This statement sets forth the position of GMO UK Limited (“GMO”) with respect to the 

Principles of the UK Stewardship Code (the “Principles”), outlined in Appendix A of this 

policy. GMO does not claim compliance with the Principles; however, GMO’s clearly 

articulated proxy voting policies (and management of the conflicts that may arise 

therefrom) are integral to our investment processes and capture the broader themes 

included in the Principles. We believe this approach to stewardship is consistent with 

GMO’s overriding objective of delivering the best risk-adjusted returns for each of the 

strategies that the firm offers. 
�

�

�

Principles 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7 

 

For all GMO funds and client accounts where GMO has been delegated proxy voting 

authority, GMO has engaged Institutional Shareholder Services "ISS" for this purpose.  

ISS undertakes research, makes voting recommendations and ensures that proxy votes are 

submitted in a timely manner on behalf of GMO’s funds and clients who have granted 

GMO proxy voting authority.  Details of GMO’s voting policy, including default 

positions on matters of corporate governance and approach to managing the conflicts that 

may arise in the course of voting proxies are a matter of public record, and are available 

from GMO upon request.   
 

Reports on the proxy voting activities of GMO funds and separately managed accounts 

are available to shareholders and clients, respectively, upon request. 

�

Principles 4 and 5 

 

The majority of GMO’s investment strategies employ quantitative techniques, which are 

primarily focused on identifying groups of stocks that GMO believes will outperform 

over a market cycle based on GMO’s proprietary valuation models.  For these strategies, 

GMO generally favours the objectivity that a data-based approach to investing provides. 

Other than with respect to a minority of strategies where fundamental investment and 

research is a component of an investment strategy, GMO does not have a practice of 

dialogue, engagement or intervention with portfolio companies.  Accordingly, GMO does 

not generally participate with other investment managers or institutional investors in 

collective engagement of companies. 

131



Appendix A 

�

Principles of the UK Stewardship Code 

�

Institutional investors should: 

 

1.   publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship 

responsibilities; 

2.   have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to stewardship and 

this policy should be publicly disclosed; 

3.   monitor their investee companies; 

4.   establish clear guidelines on when, and how they will escalate their activities as a 

method of protecting and enhancing shareholder value; 

5.   be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate; 

6.   have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity; and 

7.   report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities. 

132



Longview Partners LLP
December 2014

Page 1

The UK Stewardship Code

Statement of Compliance

Longview Partners is a specialist asset management company, focussed entirely on the management of Global

portfolios. As fiduciaries of our clients’ assets, Longview Partners strives to invest in companies that adopt and

pursue responsible business practices and are fully accountable to their shareholders.

The UK Stewardship Code, (‘the Code’), sets out a number of principles relating to good practice in engagement by

investors with UK companies. At Longview Partners, corporate governance is important in our assessment of the

‘Quality’ ranking of any potential equity investment that we make on behalf of our clients. We set out below how

Longview Partners applies the principles of the Code.

Principle 1: Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their

stewardship responsibilities.

The discharge of our stewardship responsibilities is inherent in our rigorous research process. We have in depth

discussions with each company prior to investment and maintain an ongoing dialogue once invested to evaluate

the effectiveness of company’s management on corporate governance issues. A large part of our research effort is

focussed on understanding how the company’s management has created value for shareholders in the past and

how management will continue to do so in the future. In our company meetings we discuss strategy and corporate

responsibility issues with board directors and executives, as we believe that these factors affect the potential for a

company to deliver long term sustainable value to shareholders. Such factors include; remuneration, finance,

climate change, reputation and litigation risks, deployment of capital and energy efficiency. Further detail of how

we engage and monitor companies in which we invest is outlined in our Responsible Investment Policy. Our policy

on the exercise of voting rights on behalf of our clients is outlined in our Shareholder Activism Policy.

On behalf of our Institutional clients we employ the services of the voting agency Glass Lewis & Co, a leading

independent provider of corporate governance solutions to the financial services industry. To inform their

research, Glass Lewis uses publicly available sources of information such as stock exchanges, regulators, companies

directly or other forms of direct procurement. Glass Lewis votes on our clients’ behalf at all relevant company

meetings.

Principle 2: Institutional investors should have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to

stewardship and this policy should be publicly disclosed.

Longview Partners seeks to always act in the best interests of our clients and where possible avoid conflicts,

including those which may arise through voting or engagement. Occasions may arise where a conflict or perceived

conflict of interest exists. In such instances, all reasonable steps are taken to ensure that we put the interests of

our clients first, as outlined in our Conflicts of Interest Policy.

If Longview manages assets for a company pension plan or related entity, Longview will respect client restrictions

but beyond that will vote proxies in that company in the best interest of our clients and consistent with our voting

policy and Glass Lewis’ recommendations.

133



Longview Partners LLP
December 2014

Page 2

Principle 3: Institutional investors should monitor their investee companies.

Longview Partners believes that companies need to be managed in the interests of shareholders. Our investments

are focused in companies with good corporate governance, as we believe they are more likely to deliver

sustainable, long term value to their shareholders. Integrated within our investment process is the consideration

of risks and opportunities such as government legislation, industry dynamics, mergers and acquisitions and

product development/innovation. When we meet company management, we engage with them on finance and

remuneration schemes as well as strategy and performance expectations, such as their capital deployment

strategy and any other issues and risks facing the business. We evaluate the effectiveness of a company’s

management and if its past, current or anticipated behaviour is judged to be adverse to its future earnings, these

concerns are addressed in our fundamental research and investment process. Poor performance on corporate

governance would be reflected in our longer term Quality rating that we assign companies. Any concerns we have

with company practices would be proactively addressed in order to protect shareholder value.

On an ongoing basis, we encourage high standards of corporate governance when we meet with senior

management of a company, as we recognise that both financial and governance issues can affect the sustainability

and long term performance of the company. We engage with companies on corporate governance issues as part of

our overall investment strategy. "Engagement" to us means that we seek to meet with company board directors

and executives to discuss strategy and corporate responsibility issues. We are comfortable discussing any

contentious issues on company meeting agendas and have ongoing dialogue with management regarding the

outlook of the business and the issues and risks affecting it. Consequently, we are able to evaluate any resulting

management decisions and actions. We will also discuss the quality of the company’s reporting as well as the

finance and remuneration schemes and strongly support those that align management’s interests with those of

shareholders. We incorporate the results from our engagement into our investment criteria. Whilst we put our

views forward strongly in these meetings, we do not consider ourselves activist. Ultimately, if after lengthy

discussions we believed management was failing to act in shareholders’ interests, we would tend to sell our

holding in order to minimise the loss of shareholder value.

Longview does not send a representative to attend General Meetings of companies. We engage directly with the

management of the companies in which we are invested and do not feel that attendance to these meetings would

be the appropriate use of our investment resources.

Longview Partners does not encourage becoming an insider. In the unlikely event that we are made an insider or

given material information that has not yet been published, we would follow our policy and procedure on Market

Abuse.

Principle 4: Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their

stewardship activities.

The primary focus of Longview’s investment process is to understand the quality of a company and the value of the

cash flows that it can generate. Within our analysis of quality, a large focus is on understanding management’s

approach to the reinvestment of cash generated and balance sheet management. We do not seek to prescribe a

specific approach, rather we ask management to be thoughtful of their actions and to show that due consideration

has been given to all options, with an aim of maximising shareholder returns. If we believe management has a

poor track record of doing this or inappropriate plans for the future, we will not invest in a company, even if it has

other positive investment merits. Where we have concerns that the company’s management is not acting in

shareholders’ interests, our investment team will make clear our concerns to the company. As a concentrated

long term investor we often find company management appreciative of our input.

In our continual assessment of our investments, we have on going dialogue with the management of companies, in

which we are invested or may be invested, to ensure that they are meeting a reasonable governance hurdle. Areas

134



Longview Partners LLP
December 2014

Page 3

where we believe they are deficient will be highlighted and our expected levels of performance on governance

issues will be made clear. We will closely review a company’s performance, governance, remuneration and

approach to risk. Anything likely to cause a material change in the value of the business, or our quality rating for

the business, will be reviewed by the investment team. If an issue is serious enough that it is likely to cause a

material change in our valuation of the business, or a reduction in our quality rating, we will write to senior

management or express our views through robust discussions with the appropriate member of the management

team. We are willing to challenge management in an attempt to protect and enhance the interests of our clients

and will exercise our right to vote against management. As mentioned above, if after lengthy discussions we

believed management was failing to act in shareholders’ interests, we would tend to sell our holding in order to

minimise the loss of shareholder value.

Principle 5: Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate.

Our policy on engagement focuses on meetings and dialogue with company directors and management on a one

on one basis. Collective engagement with other shareholders would be considered if we believed this would result

in a more positive outcome for our clients, is consistent with our policies and procedures and meets all legal

requirements. For example, collective engagement would be considered prior to an important company vote,

where we felt that our ability to lobby other investors may result in a more positive outcome for our clients.

However, we would anticipate collaboration at this level to be infrequent.

Principle 6: Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity.

We carry out proxy voting for all Institutional clients who request Longview Partners to be responsible for the

implementation of their voting rights. In order to effectively meet these requirements, Longview engages Glass

Lewis as described above. We believe Glass Lewis’ expert and independent analysis on governance complements

Longview’s stock selection process. However, Longview Partners would advocate the exercising of votes, and

where necessary, objective and informed intervention in line with our Shareholder Activism Policy.

Proxy voting reports are provided on a quarterly basis to all clients on whose behalf we vote. Given the

concentrated nature of our portfolio, we believe it is in our client’s best interest to preserve the confidentiality of

our holdings and we therefore do not make voting activity data publicly available.

Longview Partners does not engage in stock lending as part of our investment management activity for clients.

However, our clients are able to engage in stock lending for their specific portfolio, through arrangements made

directly with their custodian.

Principle 7: Institutional investors should report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.

On a quarterly basis, we report to our institutional clients our stewardship activities, including engagement

activity. Through our voting service provider, we are able to access and provide reports to our clients showing how

their shares have been voted.

An independent audit is carried out to ensure we are conducting our activities in line with the AAF 01/06

standards. Part of the independent audit includes a review of the voting process. The AAF 01/06 report is

available to existing clients of Longview Partners as per our engagement letter with our auditors.

135



136

This page is intentionally left blank



                                 

                            Statement of compliance with the  

                                             UK Stewardship Code 
 

 

Oldfield Partners LLP (OP) is an asset management firm which started business in 2005.  The 

firm manages around £3 billion in long only equity portfolios for a variety of clients. 

We believe that our long term approach to investing benefits from a broad understanding of a 

company’s position in the world, part of which is captured in the UK Stewardship Code, rather 

than a narrow focus on today’s market position and profitability alone.  As long term investors 

we support the general intentions of the code and believe our approach is in line with its basic 

principles. 

 

Principle 1 

Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their 

stewardship responsibilities. 

OP policy is as set out in this document, which is published on our website.  The investment 

team is responsible for discharging our stewardship responsibilities and our approach to 

investing is based on fundamental, bottom-up company analysis.  As part of our research 

process we aim to understand how a company, and to some degree its management, create 

long term value for shareholders.  This involves a review of company statements, reports and 

actions, and in many cases, an ongoing dialogue with company representatives.  For further 

detail on the dialogue with companies, please refer to sections on monitoring and engagement 

policy. 

For those clients that give permission to do so, OP takes responsibility for proxy voting and 

employs the services of governance expert Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS) to 

provide analysis and recommendations which assist decision-making.  For further information 

on this subject, please refer to our proxy voting policy. 

OP has an obligation to act in the best interest of its clients and does so in accordance with 

predefined guidelines and objectives. 

For further detail on the approach to stewardship, or to contact us about engagement, please 

email info@oldfieldpartners.com and we will direct you to the correct member of the team. 

 

 

OP 
                      
Oldfield Partners 

137



Oldfield Partners 

Statement of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code 

 
Principle 2 

Institutional investors should have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to 

stewardship and this policy should be publicly disclosed. 

 

OP maintains a comprehensive Conflicts of Interest Policy, which is fully in accordance with 

regulatory guidelines.  OP seeks to act in the best interests of clients and avoid potential 

conflicts of interest. The policy ensures procedures are in place to identify, manage and 

document conflicts that arise in the course of business.   

A copy of the full policy is available on request and is also published on the firm’s website. 

 

Principle 3 

Institutional investors should monitor their investee companies. 

Our approach to investing is based on fundamental, bottom-up company analysis.  In assessing 

companies for investment purposes, we take into account ethical and governance 

considerations and the extent to which they may affect prospective returns.  We avoid 

companies in which there are serious governance concerns, and companies in which there 

have been concerns about business being conducted in an unethical manner unless it is clear 

that such concerns have been dealt with by management and any shortcomings have been 

addressed.  Such concerns may relate to social and environmental matters as well as other 

ethical and governance practices. 

Investee companies are monitored through regular review of company statements, results, 

reports and, more importantly, actions.  In many cases we are in direct contact with company 

representatives and have the ability to express views or concerns through this ongoing 

dialogue.  In addition, we use a governance expert, Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS), 

to provide analysis of governance issues to assist with proxy voting and GES, a specialist 

provider of research in the area of responsible investment. 

The frequency and intensity of this monitoring may vary from company to company.  For 

example, a small family-controlled business operating in Thailand may require greater scrutiny 

than a large multinational corporation listed in the UK, but a greater allowance must be made for 

the stage of its development and its resources. 

 

 

Principle 4 

Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their 

activities as a method of protecting and enhancing shareholder value. 

The decision to escalate engagement with investee companies is judged on a case-by-case 

basis and is influenced by factors such as the materiality of the issue and the likelihood of 

exerting a significant influence.  Meeting with company management offers an opportunity for us 

to put across our views. Occasionally we engage with management to promote a particular 

course of action or to reflect concern about a particular activity or aspect of governance.   We 

138



Oldfield Partners 

Statement of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code 

 
manage concentrated portfolios of around 20 stocks and this concentration helps us to monitor 

all holdings effectively.   

On an annual basis OP publishes a proxy voting and engagement report which highlights some 

of the engagement activities and escalation undertaken.  This is available on the website. 

 

Principle 5 

Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate. 

OP may be prepared to communicate, and potentially collaborate, with other shareholders 

sharing the same views but only if it was likely to result in a positive outcome for clients and 

would not infringe any legal or regulatory requirements.  We recently joined an investor forum 

organised by the Association of British Insurers for this specific purpose and have had 

discussions with the UK Investor Forum and the FRC about the hurdles currently preventing 

more widespread collaboration.   

 

Principle 6 

Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity. 

OP employs the services of governance expert Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS) to 

manage the voting of proxies and assist our decision-making.  ISS provide analysis and voting 

recommendations for each proposal and we tend to vote in line with ISS recommendations 

unless we have a conflicting opinion about a particular issue, in which case we will intervene to 

instruct as we see fit, or if we feel it is not in our clients’ best interests to vote (due to share 

blocking for example). 

ISS voting policies reflect best practice within the industry and are extremely thorough.  For 

example, the policy applied by ISS in the UK is that of the National Association of Pension 

Funds (NAPF), and the policy manual for the US runs to over 300 pages.  The voting policies of 

ISS are effectively the voting policies of Oldfield Partners, applied in all but a relatively small 

number of incidences where because of company-specific factors we may take a different view 

and vote accordingly. 

Where a client has specific proxy voting guidelines which differ from ISS, we work with ISS to 

ensure we vote in line with the guidance prescribed by the client. 

Proxy voting records are retained and provided to clients when requested.  OP also publishes 

an annual summary of proxy voting and engagement on its website. 

Oldfield Partners does not engage in stock lending, although clients with segregated accounts 

may have separate programmes managed by custodians or other third parties.  In these cases, 

the programmes operate independently of us and we have no influence or involvement. 

 

139



Oldfield Partners 

Statement of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code 

 
Principle 7 

Institutional investors should report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities. 

At the client’s request, OP provides regular reports of stewardship activities, including detailed 

proxy voting records pertaining to the individual client. 

The frequency and exact requirements of the reporting are agreed between OP and the client at 

the inception of the mandate and are generally incorporated into the investment management 

agreement.  

As noted under Principle 6, an annual summary of proxy voting and engagement activity is 

publicly disclosed via the website. 

Our proxy voting control processes are detailed in our AAF 01/06 Assurance Report on Internal 

Controls which is independently verified by external auditors and available to clients on request. 

140



     
 

  Environmental, Social, Governance Q&A 
 
 
 
ESG statement 

 
In assessing companies for investment purposes, OP takes into account ethical considerations 
and the extent to which ethical factors may affect prospective returns. We avoid companies 
about which we have serious governance concerns, and companies in which we have concerns 
about business being conducted in an unethical manner unless it is clear that such concerns 
have been or are being dealt with by management and any shortcomings have been addressed. 
Such concerns may relate to social and environmental matters as well as to other ethical 
practices.  We do not have a prohibition on any particular sectors or countries. To view our 
statement of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code, please click here. 

 
 

1. Is your organisation a signatory of the UN Principles of Responsible Investment?  Has your 
organisation issued a Statement of Commitment to the FRC Stewardship Code?  Please list any 
other relevant codes / organisations that your firm is a signatory of or affiliated to.   
 
We are not currently a UN PRI signatory, as we are not yet comfortable that Principle 5 (working 
together to enhance effectiveness in implementing the Principles) has the necessary 
infrastructure and protections we think necessary.  We have held numerous conversations with 
the Financial Reporting Council in the UK on this issue and have made clear our concerns 
about engaging or collaborating with other managers when it is not clear whether they have long 
or short positions.  However, we have recently joined the Investor Forum, hoping this can 
provide the platform for the kind of collective efforts the PRI promotes. 
 
We publish a statement of commitment to the UK Stewardship Code on our website: 
https://www.oldfieldpartners.com/investment-philosophy 
 

2. Do you recognize that ESG issues can impact long term shareholder returns for companies? 
 
Yes, which is why as a long term investor we believe ESG should form part of our research 
process.  OP takes into account ethical considerations and the extent to which ethical factors 
may affect prospective returns, but our focus remains on the prospective returns, which drive 
our decision-making. 
 

3. Do you incorporate ESG issues into investment research and decision-making processes, 
including proxy-voting? 
 
Yes.  ESG issues are considered routinely in our research on companies, and where 
appropriate we engage with companies regarding such issues.  We also employ the services of 
specialist consultants such as GES (Global Ethical Standards), to help highlight key ESG issues 
and give us the ability through them to influence the large number of institutional investors they 
support in this area.  However, we do not seek necessarily to avoid companies with ESG 
issues: in such circumstances, provided that we think that prospective investment returns justify 
our involvement, we may seek to engage with management in order to influence policy.   
 

OP 
Oldfield Partners 

141



OP also employs the services of governance expert Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS) 
to manage the voting of proxies and assist our decision-making.  ISS provide analysis and 
voting recommendations for each proposal which we thoroughly review.  We instruct them to 
vote the proxies for all clients where we have permission to and to vote in line with ISS unless 
we have a conflicting opinion about a particular issue, in which case we will intervene to instruct 
as we see fit, or if we feel it is not in our clients’ best interests to vote (due to share blocking for 
example). 
 
Where a client has specific proxy voting guidelines which differ from ISS, we work with ISS to 
ensure we vote in line with the guidance prescribed by the client. 
 

4. Do you have a separate ESG Committee?  
 
No, ESG is the responsibility of the investment team and is integrated into the research process. 
 

5. Do you seek appropriate disclosure on ESG issues that can impact long term shareholder 
returns, from the companies in which you invest? 
 
Yes.  Through our own research and that provided by consultants, we are able to raise 
concerns relating to significant issues with companies and then engage with them over a period 
of time to encourage change and improvement. 
 

6. Who are your ESG research providers?   
 
We use research and data from Bloomberg, GES and ISS.  We are also a member of the 
Investor Forum in the UK which allows shareholders a collective voice in engaging with 
companies on issues which may include ESG concerns, although to date this has focused on 
UK companies. 
 

7. Briefly discuss how you incorporate ESG into the investment process, with an example,  
keeping in mind issues like: 
 
a) Identification of ESG risk and opportunity; and 
 
The investment team is responsible for identifying ESG issues but we use the services of 
Bloomberg, GES, ISS and other sources to assist us in this process.  Significant issues are 
considered as part of the research process and discussed as necessary.  This may lead to 
engagement with the company in question, particularly if it is an existing, rather than potential, 
holding. 
 
When we purchased Chesapeake in Q3 2012, it had previously been at the centre of a 
corporate governance scandal.  The scandal revolved around the actions and compensation of 
the CEO, Aubrey McLendon, who at the time of the scandal was also Chairman of the board of 
directors.  The main problem was that he participated in a Founders Well Participation 
Programme which allowed him to decide at the start of each year whether he wished to take a 
2.5% stake in all of the wells the company drilled that year.  When the company was first formed 
in 1989 this was a generous but perhaps appropriate incentive but as the firm grew to become 
very large, this was no longer appropriate.  Once these issues came to light, it was clear that the 
board did not have sufficient control and oversight of what McLendon was doing.  However, this 
scandal resulted in a dramatic fall in Chesapeake’s share price and left the valuation of the 
company at very low levels, hence offering an opportunity. 
 

142



However, before we could invest, we had first to be comfortable with the new corporate 
governance arrangements as a hurdle to considering investment.  The replacement of nearly 
the whole board, with a powerful chairman and directors including Lou Simpson, and the end of 
the chief executive’s programme of participation in Chesapeake’s production, satisfied us that 
the inappropriate governance belonged to the past, and therefore provided an opportunity. 
 
b) Management and monitoring of ESG risks and opportunities 
 
In addition to the processes already noted, ongoing ESG issues and engagement are logged 
centrally and reviewed by senior investors regularly, with progress reports and action points 
recorded and discussed as necessary.   
 

8. Please describe your research and engagement policy on each of the topics below, using 
examples where helpful: 
 

a) Climate change and stranded carbon assets; 
 

In managing our equity portfolios and engaging with company managements, there are both 
negative and positive aspects to our assessment of the risks and opportunities created by 
climate change.  In analysing resource companies, we have not hitherto adopted a “stranded 
assets” approach to our assessment of reserves in which a large proportion of reserves might 
be discounted as unlikely ever to reach production. However, we are strongly conscious of the 
need to discriminate between different types of resource.  In particular, we are sceptical about 
the valuation multiples which should be attributed to coal resources because of the 
environmental impact of coal and the possibility that thermal coal becomes obsolete in 
developed markets.  We view positively, in our projections and valuation, businesses which are 
likely to mitigate climate change and more broadly pollution, and we therefore favour 
businesses which lead to lower energy usage.  In the auto sector, for example, in which we 
have recently had substantial holdings, we focus, when engaging with management and when 
studying the company’s business, on fuel efficiency, and on the long term displacement of 
gasoline dependent vehicles by vehicles dependent on other sources of energy.  Within the 
energy sector, we favour natural gas as a resource which is at least relatively climate-friendly, 
and we have also, from time to time including currently, invested in utilities with a nuclear 
activity. 
 
The result of these emphases takes both a quantitative and a qualitative form: quantitative, in 
our valuation process; and qualitative, in our textual commentary within our research notes.   
 
We have not actively engaged with a company specifically on the issues of climate change and 
stranded assets. 
 
b) Executive pay 
 

ISS research with regards to proxy voting is a good starting point for considering executive pay.  
We vote on all remuneration items and where we feel remuneration is egregious or significantly 
mis-aligned with shareholders we may engage with management.  This is considered on a 
case-by-case basis.  In the past we have engaged with Staples and Barrick Gold. 
 
With Staples, we noted a number of areas of weakness in the executive compensation plans 
including the metrics – both the actual metrics and the hurdle rates - being used to assess 
performance. We also discussed vesting periods and claw-back provisions. We welcomed the 
move away from time-based restricted stock and options. 

143



 
Our comments were passed on to the board and compensation committee. 
 

c) Boardroom roles and diversity 
 

Again, ISS research is helpful and we vote on all agenda items.  However, we have not set 
specific policy goals for diversity, instead we consider issues on a case-by-case basis. 
 
We had a discussion with Staples with respect to the combined CEO/Chairman role and the 
recent executive compensation awards. We expressed our view that it would be better to have 
an independent Chairman but, given the reinvention plan that had been recently announced, it 
made sense to keep the focus on executing the turnaround plan rather than focusing on 
whether there should be an independent Chairman. Furthermore, there was good oversight 
from the rest of the board. Nevertheless, in time, we would rather the CEO and Chairman roles 
were split.  
 
A key incident of engagement in early 2015 was a meeting with the management of Nintendo, 
when the company’s request to vote in favour of the re-election of directors signalled their 
anxiety about this. The meeting was helpful in postponing any further sale by us of shares in the 
company; and was then followed by Nintendo’s important announcement of a change in 
strategy, which we had written to them about previously. 
 
 
 
  

144



     

 

Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP 
10 Finsbury Square, 4th Floor 
T: +44-20-3356-1800  | www.pantheon.com 
 
Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP is a limited liability partnership and authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom 
(FCA Reference No. 520 240).  
Registered in England No.OC352463 

 

 

Dear Ian, 
 
Please find below an outline of some of Pantheon’s ESG policies as per your email. Pantheon is driven by the 

conviction that addressing ESG issues is a crucial part of investment risk management; and effective mitigation 

of these issues can have a notable impact on value creation in private equity and infrastructure investments. 

ESG initiatives therefore form a key element of Pantheon’s investment philosophy and approach. 

 

Pantheon and PRI 

 

Pantheon is a signatory of the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) and has used these principles as a 

framework to develop its ESG policy across all its investment activities. Pantheon was also a founding member 

of the PRI Private Equity Steering Committee and only withdrew in 2014 due to a maximum tenure being 

exceeded. Pantheon has remained involved in sub-committees and continues to assist the PRI with logistics and 

speakers at conferences. 

 

Pantheon is also an endorser of the ILPA Private Equity Principles; and is a member of the EVCA, BVCA and 

LAVCA Responsible Investment Working Groups. 

 

More generally Pantheon is driven by the conviction that addressing ESG issues is a crucial part of investment 

risk management; and effective mitigation of these issues can have a notable impact on value creation in private 

equity and infrastructure investments. Our reputation and market profile as a leading global private equity and 

infrastructure fund investor; and our strong relationships with both our GPs and LPs, means that we are ideally 

positioned to promote the importance of ESG within the industries. ESG initiatives therefore form a key element 

of Pantheon’s investment philosophy and approach. 

 

We believe that Pantheon is a market leader in this area, and our approach incorporates: 

· Formally taking account of ESG issues in the investment process; 

· Engaging with GPs to promote the importance of ESG issues; 

· Providing on-going ESG training to Pantheon investment professionals; 

· Maintaining ESG risk monitoring post-investment for each underlying asset;  

· Endeavouring to keep our LPs aware of the level of ESG risks through pioneering ESG reporting; and 

· Encouraging all industry participants to recognize and act on ESG issues. 

 

145



     

 

Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP 
10 Finsbury Square, 4th Floor 
T: +44-20-3356-1800  | www.pantheon.com 
 
Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP is a limited liability partnership and authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom 
(FCA Reference No. 520 240).  
Registered in England No.OC352463 

 

 

UK Stewardship Code 

 

Although Pantheon has not yet signed up to the UK Stewardship Code, the principles contained within the UK 

Stewardship Code are akin to Pantheon’s ongoing active engagement with the managers in which we invest. 

Effective post-investment care and the maintenance of close relationships are important to maximize the value of 

Pantheon’s fund investments, protect client interests and to evaluate the investment activity within each fund. 

Our active involvement on Advisory Boards of the funds in which we invest, as well as our policy on voting, is 

outlined below.  

 

Voting Matters 

 

As a PRI signatory, Pantheon has committed to follow a policy of active ownership, requiring us to vote on all 

matters. In private equity, voting may take place on any number of governance, legal or investment matters and 

therefore each voting matter is considered on a case by case basis. For this reason, Pantheon does not have an 

internal reference guide to cover all voting matters. 

 

Private equity ownership can improve businesses by a long term approach, active ownership, close alignment of 

interest and good corporate governance. In this way, private equity managers are able to add value by taking a 

highly active role throughout the course of an investment in an underlying company. By nature of its business, 

Pantheon delegates the responsibility for the selection, monitoring and realization of individual private equity 

investments to its private equity managers. Our due diligence process is structured to identify managers with the 

greatest potential to deliver superior performance, and active engagement with underlying companies forms a 

fundamental element of this. We seek to identify the most experienced and stable management teams who have 

a strong track record of value creation through operational improvements.    

 

 

 

 

146



State Street Global Advisors (SSGA) is the asset management business of State Street 

Corporation, one of the world’s leading providers of financial services to institutional 

investors, with $2.20trn1 assets under management (as of 30th September 2015).

SSGA is a strong supporter of the principles of good stewardship that are embodied in 

the UK Stewardship Code. We firmly believe that the building of strong relationships 

with the boards and management teams of investee companies and the monitoring of 

their performance is an essential component of enhancing the long-term value of our 

clients’ investments. SSGA endeavours to implement the spirit of the UK Stewardship 

Code across all jurisdictions in which we invest.

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

The UK Stewardship Code (“the Code”) embraces the idea that all stakeholders in the 

engagement process play a role in advocating sound corporate governance practices. 

The Code describes seven basic principles designed to promote the long-term success 

of companies. SSGA supports the principles of the Code and we are committed to 

being transparent on how SSGA exercises its ownership responsibilities. SSGA’s 

approach to voting and engagement is described in our Summary of Global Proxy 

Voting and Engagement Principles, found on the website of SSGA Ltd (www.ssga.com).

SSGA reviews our internal policies, practices and compliance with the Stewardship 

Code on an annual basis (last reviewed in September 2015).

SSGA endeavours to 

implement the spirit of 

October 2015

Statement on the 
UK Stewardship Code

147



State Street Global Advisors 2

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

SSGA’s Compliance with the UK Stewardship Code at a Glance

Principles: Institutional  

investors should… SSGA Compliance Highlights

publicly disclose their policy on how they will 
discharge their stewardship responsibilities

SSGA’s approach to proxy voting and engagement activities is explained 

stewardship report.  

monitor their investee companies

establish clear guidelines on when and how 

be willing to act collectively with other  

have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of 

report periodically on their stewardship and 

148



State Street Global Advisors 3

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

Details of Compliance with Each 
Code Principle

Principle 1
Institutional Investors should Publicly 
Disclose their Policy on How they will Discharge 
their Stewardship Responsibilities

SSGA manages numerous investment strategies on behalf of 

our clients with various investment viewpoints and objectives. 

Nevertheless, the value of good governance practices of investee 

companies is of equal concern and importance under all 

investment approaches. Consequently, SSGA maintains a 

centralised governance and active ownership process covering 

all discretionary holdings. This allows us to ensure we speak 

and act with a single voice and maximize our influence with 

companies by leveraging the weight of our entire assets under 

management on behalf of all clients.

In conducting our voting and engagement activities, SSGA 

evaluates the various factors that play into the corporate 

governance framework of a country, including macroeconomic 

conditions, the political environment, quality of regulatory 

oversight, enforcement of shareholder rights and the 

e$ectiveness of the judiciary. SSGA complements its 

company specific dialogue with targeted engagement with 

regulators and government agencies to address systemic 

market-wide concerns. 

SSGA uses a blend of quantitative and qualitative research 

and data to help identify issuers where active engagement 

may be necessary to protect and promote shareholder value. 

Issuer engagement may also be event driven, focusing on 

specific corporate governance and sustainability concerns or 

wider industry related trends. SSGA also gives consideration 

to the size of our total position of the issuer in question and/or 

the potential negative governance, performance profile, and 

circumstance at hand. As a result, SSGA believes issuer 

engagement can take many forms and be triggered under 

numerous circumstances.

SSGA has a dedicated team of governance experts, based in 

Boston and London, who are charged with implementing its 

proxy voting guidelines and engagement activities on a global 

basis. The activities of the Corporate Governance Team 

(“CGT”) are overseen by SSGA’s Investment Committee (“IC”). 

The IC is responsible for approving the annual stewardship 

strategy, engagement priorities and proxy voting policies, 

and monitoring the delivery of objectives. Furthermore, 

the Global Proxy Review Committee (“GPRC”), a dedicated  

sub-committee of the IC, provides day-to-day oversight of the 

CGT, including approving departures from policy and 

management of conflicts of interest. 

The CGT is supported by several specialists within SSGA in 

executing their stewardship responsibilities. These include 

members of SSGA’s proxy operations team who are responsible 

for managing fund set up, vote execution, vote reconciliation, 

share recalls and class action lawsuits, and members of SSGA’s 

client reporting and compliance teams.

SSGA utilises a variety of third-party service providers to 

support its stewardship activities. Data and analysis from 

service providers are used as inputs to help inform SSGA’s 

position and assist with prioritisation. However, all voting 

decisions and engagement activities are undertaken in 

accordance with SSGA’s in-house policies and views, ensuring 

the interests of our clients remain the sole consideration when 

discharging our stewardship responsibilities. 

Principle 2
Institutional Investors should Have a Robust Policy 
on Managing Conflicts of Interest in Relation to 
Stewardship which should be Publicly Disclosed

State Street Corporation has a comprehensive standalone 

Conflicts of Interest Policy that address a range of conflicts 

identified by our parent company. In addition, SSGA maintains 

a conflicts register that identifies key conflicts and describes 

systems in place to mitigate the risks. SSGA has also published 

a specific conflicts policy that provides guidance on managing 

conflicts that may arise through SSGA’s proxy voting activities. 

SSGA policies and procedures are designed to prevent undue 

influence on SSGA’s voting activities that may arise from 

relationships between proxy issuers or companies and 

State Street Corporation, SSGA, SSGA a.liates, SSGA Funds 

or SSGA Fund a.liates; and ensure that the interests of our 

clients remain our primary consideration. 

In general, we do not believe matters that fall within the 

scope of our guidelines and are voted consistently present 

any potential concerns, since the vote has e$ectively been 

determined without the influence of the soliciting entity. 

However, in circumstances where a potential conflict has been 

identified, the matter will be referred to the GPRC who reviews 

the matter and determines whether a conflict of interest exists, 

and if so, how to best resolve such a conflict. For example, the 

GPRC may (i) determine that the proxy vote does not give rise 

to a conflict due to the issues presented, (ii) refer the matter to 

the Investment Committee for further consideration or (iii) 

retain an independent fiduciary to execute the vote on behalf 

of SSGA.

SSGA’s policy for managing conflicts arising from our 

stewardship activities is publically available on the SSGA 

website (https://www.ssga.com/eu/gb/institutional-investor/

en/products-capabilities/capabilities/custom-solutions/

corporate-governance-and-voting-policy.html).

149



State Street Global Advisors 4

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

Principle 3
Institutional Investors Should Monitor their 
Investee Companies

SSGA is a leading global provider of passive fund strategies 

and holds over 9,000 listed equities across its global portfolios. 

Therefore, the e&ectiveness of our engagement strategy is built 

upon our ability to prioritise, and allocate resources to focus 

on companies and issues that will have the greatest impact 

on shareholder returns. To support this process SSGA has 

developed proprietary in-house screening tools to help identify 

companies for active targeted engagement based upon various 

financial and ESG risk indicators. Factors considered in 

developing the target list include: size of absolute and 

relative holdings; companies with poor long-term financial 

performance within their sector; companies identified 

through the ESG screening tool as lagging market and industry 

standards; and outstanding concerns from prior engagements. 

In addition to issuer specific screening, SSGA develops annual 

stewardship priority programs to enhance the quality and 

define the scope of our stewardship activities for the year. 

This enables SSGA to focus engagement and reporting on 

sectors and ESG themes that are of increasing importance to 

our clients. We develop our priorities based on several factors 

including client feedback, emerging ESG trends, and developing 

macroeconomic conditions and regulation.

SSGA monitors the performance of investee companies 

amongst its target list through a combination of in-depth 

research and analysis and the maintaining of regular channels 

of communication with boards and senior management. The 

process has been designed to allow SSGA to better understand 

the long-term corporate strategy and performance, governance 

practices, financial controls and risk management systems of 

companies held in our client portfolios. SSGA will carefully 

consider ethical, environmental and social factors when 

deemed to be material to the long-term prospects of a company.

Beyond SSGA’s active engagement program, the CGT 

undertakes base level monitoring of the entire portfolio and 

participates in reactive engagement in response to company or 

market specific events. 

Based on the outcome of our company analysis and dialogue, 

SSGA may identify potential concerns or areas for 

improvement. SSGA will utilise its voting rights and 

engagement influence to seek positive change at companies 

with the ultimate objective of enhancing the value of our 

clients’ investments.

The monitoring and engagement process is integrated within 

SSGA’s investment functions to ensure a consistent position 

across the firm. Investment integration within our passive 

mandates is primarily realised through SSGA’s global and 

regional CIOs who participate directly in meetings with 

companies and regulators. In addition, the CGT collaborates 

with other members of the passive investment teams on 

matters related to market policies and company specific events. 

Integration between the teams is of particular importance 

when considering corporate restructurings and mergers and 

acquisitions which may have a significant impact on benchmark 

index composition and rebalancing. 

Under our active strategies, SSGA’s CGT works closely with our 

active fundamental investment teams, collaborating on issuer 

engagements and sharing inputs  on company specific 

fundamentals. This facilitates an integrated approach towards 

investment research and engagement with company 

management and boards. The active equity teams also provide 

recommendations on all resolutions tabled for shareholder 

approval at companies within their investment universe. 

Under no circumstance is SSGA willing to be made 

insiders to assist investee company boards and their 

advisers as part of our engagement process. Companies 

should take care to ensure that all material information 

disclosed during engagements with SSGA be publicly 

available in the market.

In general, SSGA does not attend shareholder meetings. Rather, 

SSGA votes at all shareholder meetings by proxy where eligible, 

and believes that proxy voting and engaging with issuers is the 

most e&ective means to address governance concerns. To the 

extent practicable, the CGT will arrange meetings with investee 

companies prior to the vote, to discuss any areas of concern.

Externally, SSGA is a member or participant in a range of 

investor based organisations that complement SSGA’s internal 

mechanisms of regularly tracking noteworthy company, 

industry and regulatory issues and events.

Our monitoring process is reviewed at least annually to ensure 

that engagement e&orts are appropriately targeted and that the 

process is e&ective and e-cient.

Principle 4
Institutional Investors should Establish Clear 
Guidelines on When and How they will Escalate 
their Stewardship Activities

SSGA has published an engagement protocol that provides 

transparency to companies on our approach to stewardship and 

the manner in which we prioritise and select engagements. The 

protocol gives guidance on how and when companies should 

approach SSGA and sets out expectations for the development 

and maintenance of long-term and constructive relationships 

with shareholders (https://www.ssga.com/eu/gb/institutional-

investor/en/products-capabilities/capabilities/custom-

solutions/corporate-governance-and-voting-policy.html). 

150



State Street Global Advisors 5

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

SSGA has developed a proprietary portfolio screening tool 

based on various data points including long-term financial 

performance, governance and sustainability structures and 

performance and SSGA’s absolute and relative exposure. The 

screening tool enables the CGT to build an ‘active’ engagement 

target list of companies for each geographical region. This is 

complemented by the adoption of annual thematic and 

sector priorities designed to balance our risk-based approach 

with wider industry coverage. The annual engagement 

prioritisation process is described in greater detail 

under Principle 3. 

Depending on the issue and whether the engagement activity is 

reactive, recurring, or active, engagement with issuers can take 

the form of written communication, conference calls, or 

face-to-face meetings. While the Stewardship Code is specific 

to UK stakeholders, SSGA conducts the same engagement 

practices globally.

The engagement process will depend on the nature of the issue 

that is being addressed. Matters related to execution of strategy, 

finance, operations and risk management will ordinarily be 

directed towards representatives of the senior executive team. 

While communications focused on wider strategic 

considerations and the structure, e(ectiveness and 

responsibilities of the board and oversight of the broader 

governance regime will normally be channelled through 

relevant members of the board. 

SSGA will consider escalating concerns if engagement has failed 

to result in a satisfactory outcome. The specific steps of the 

escalation process will depend upon the subject and seriousness 

of the concern, and the openness and responsiveness of the 

company. SSGA will consider escalating concerns to the 

company chairman, senior independent director, and where 

appropriate, the relevant regulatory authority. SSGA will also 

consider collaborating with other like-minded investors 

provided there is alignment with the engagement objectives and 

desired outcomes.

Our experiences and conclusions reached during the 

engagement process will help shape SSGA’s voting decisions 

on relevant ballot items and when considering the continued 

suitability of directors that are standing for re-election.

To enable engagement continuity, the CGT maintains a 

database that allows us to record both our engagements and the 

details of our voting analysis in contentious situations. The 

multi-year engagement database ensures that issues identified 

for follow-up are carried through in subsequent engagements 

and that positive changes implemented by companies are 

captured.  

Principle 5
Institutional Investors should be Willing to Act 
Collectively with Other Investors where Appropriate

The size of SSGA’s global assets and reputation in the market 

provides the CGT with access to the management and boards of 

investee companies. Therefore, the majority of corporate 

engagements are carried out on a one-to-one basis behind 

closed doors, as we feel this is critical to building trust and 

establishing constructive long-term relationships with 

companies. Nevertheless, SSGA collaborates with like-minded 

investors under certain circumstances. Factors that are 

considered when determining the merits of collaborative 

action include: 

Agreement amongst investors on core areas of concern and 

potential solutions;

Systemic market-wide concerns and regulatory environment;

Responsiveness of management and boards to prior 

individual engagements;

Concentrated ownership within the share register; and, 

Market culture and acceptance of shareholder engagement. 

To facilitate this process, SSGA are members of national 

and global investor bodies including the UK Investment 

Association, The Investor Forum, International Corporate 

Governance Network, Asian Corporate Governance 

Association, the Council of Institutional Investors and 

the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment. 

In addition, through our membership in various industry 

networks, as well as our contact with corporate pension 

plans, public funds and unions, we are able to communicate 

extensively with other stakeholders regarding events and 

issues relevant to individual corporations, general industry 

trends and current shareholder concerns.

Principle 6
Institutional Investors should have a Clear Policy on 
Voting and Disclosure of Voting Activity

SSGA has developed voting guidelines which are approved 

and overseen by the IC. The general principles and six market 

specific guidelines are available for public review on the SSGA 

website (https://www.ssga.com/eu/gb/institutional-investor/

en/products-capabilities/capabilities/custom-solutions/

corporate-governance-and-voting-policy.html).

These policies have been designed to encourage better 

governance practices at investee companies based upon 

SSGA’s understanding of global principles of good governance, 

while taking account of local market nuances and standards 

where appropriate.

151



State Street Global Advisors 6

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

SSGA votes at over 14,000 meetings on an annual basis and tiers 

companies based on factors including the size of our holdings, 

past engagement, corporate performance, and voting items 

identified as areas of potential concern. Based on this 

assessment, SSGA will allocate appropriate time and resources 

to shareholder meetings and specific ballot items of interest, 

to maximise value for our clients. All voting decisions are 

exercised exclusively in accordance with SSGA’s in-house 

policies or specific client instructions. SSGA has established 

robust controls and auditing procedures to ensure that votes 

cast are executed in accordance with SSGA instructions. 

SSGA has contracted Institutional Shareholder Services (“ISS”) 

to assist with the management of the voting process and provide 

inputs into the research of shareholder meetings. SSGA utilises 

ISS’s services in three ways: (1) as SSGA’s proxy voting agent 

(providing SSGA with vote execution and administration 

services); (2) for applying SSGA’s Proxy Voting Guidelines; 

and (3) as providers of research and analysis relating to 

general corporate governance issues and specific proxy items. 

We provide SSGA’s current policy on proxy voting and 

engagement to our institutional clients and a summary of this 

policy (Summary of Global Proxy Voting and Engagement 

Principles); along with quarterly reports detailing voting 

activity for the SSGA MPF funds which is published on the 

SSGA Ltd website. The voting activity reports include company 

details, proposal type, resolution description, and SSGA’s vote 

cast. We publicly disclose SSGA’s voting policy and voting 

activity for our US registered mutual funds as part of our 

annual N-PX reporting requirements to the SEC.

SSGA votes in all markets where it is feasible; however, 

SSGA may refrain from voting when meeting specific power 

of attorney documentation is required; where voting will have 

a material impact on our ability to trade the security; where 

issuer-specific special documentation is required; or various 

market or issuer certifications are required. SSGA is unable 

to vote proxies when certain custodians, used by our clients, 

do not o2er proxy voting in a jurisdiction or when they charge 

a meeting specific fee in excess of the typical custody service 

agreement. From time to time, SSGA may recall securities on 

loan for proxy voting purposes if the result of a particular proxy 

voting ballot item is deemed to be significant enough to justify 

the loss of fees from lending for our clients.

Principle 7
Institutional Investors should Report Periodically 
on their Stewardship and Voting Activities

We recognize the importance of being accountable to our 

clients on the manner in which we fulfil our duties as 

responsible owners on their behalf. We aim to provide 

transparency of our stewardship activities through our regular 

client reports and other information reported publicly online.

SSGA publishes an annual stewardship report which provides 

details of our stewardship approach, engagement and voting 

activities during the year, perspectives on governance and 

sustainability trends and themes, and forward looking 

priorities. The annual report is supplemented by a quarterly 

stewardship activity report and the quarterly publication of 

our voting record (https://www.ssga.com/eu/gb/institutional-

investor/en/products-capabilities/capabilities/custom-

solutions/corporate-governance-and-voting-policy.html). 

1 

SSGA’s stewardship policies and procedures related to proxy 

voting, corporate engagement and the management of conflicts 

are subject to regular review by internal audit.

Key Contacts for SSGA Corporate Governance Team 

Rakhi Kumar 

Head of Corporate Governance  

Rakhi_Kumar@ssga.com 

Mirza Baig 

Vice President, Corporate Governance  

Mirza_Baig@ssga.com

152



State Street Global Advisors 7

Statement on the UK Stewardship Code

ssga.com 

For institutional use only. Not for use with the public.

State Street Global Advisors Worldwide Entities

Australia:  

 

Belgium:

 

Canada:

Dubai:

France:

Germany:

 

Hong Kong:

 

Ireland:

Italy:

Japan: 

Netherlands: State 

Singapore:

Switzerland:

United Kingdom: 

United States:

153



154

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Information Report - Actuarial Valuation 2016
	Actuarial Variation - Appendix 1 - Regulation 62 LGPS Regulations 2013
	Actuarial Variation - Appendix 2 Presentation by Hymans Robertson - 160301 HARR committee training slides V2

	8 Information Report - Management and Investment Expenses Benchmarking
	Information Report - Management and Investment Expenses Benchmarking - Appendix Centre for Policy Studies

	9 Information Report - Pension Fund Committee Advisers
	10 Information Report - Governance Compliance Statement
	Information Report - Governance Compliance Statement - Appendix 1

	11 Information Report - Pension Fund Committee Meeting  25 November  2015
	12 Information Report - Annual Review of Internal Controls at Fund Managers
	Information Report Œ Annual Review of Internal Controls at Fund Managers  - 1 Review of Internal Controls Jan 2015
	Information Report Œ Annual Review of Internal Controls at Fund Managers - 1.1 Extract from Aviva
	Information Report Œ Annual Review of Internal Controls at Fund Managers - 1.2 Extract from Standard Life

	13 Information Report - Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -1 Appendix 1 UNPRI & UK Stewardship Code
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment - 2 Appendix 2 BlackRock
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment - 3 Appendix 2 GMO (1)
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -3 Appendix 2 GMO (2)
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment - 4 Appendix 2 Longview
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -5 Appendix 2 Oldfield (1)
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -5 Appendix 2 Oldfield (2)
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -6 Appendix 2 Pantheon
	Information Report Œ Environmental, Social and Governance Issues in Pension Fund Investment -7 Appendix 2 State Street


